## THE IMPACT OF *PLASMODIUM FALCIPARUM* SMALL-SIZED EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES (*Pf*sEVs) AND *PLASMODIUM FALCIPARUM*-INFECTED RED BLOOD CELLS (*Pf*iRBCs) ON HOST IMMUNE CELLS *IN VITRO*

JOHN SHABAN MWANGI

MASTER OF SCIENCE (Biochemistry)

## JOMO KENYATTA UNIVERSITY OF

## AGRICULTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

2022

The Impact of *Plasmodium falciparum* Small-Sized Extracellular Vesicles (*Pf*sEVs) and *Plasmodium falciparum*-Infected Red Blood Cells (*Pf*iRBCs) on Host Immune Cells *in vitro* 

John Shaban Mwangi

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biochemistry of the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology

## DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other university.

Signature......Date.....Date.

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as the university supervisors

Signature.....Date.....

Dr. Joel Bargul, PhD JKUAT, Kenya

Signature.....Date.....

Dr. Abdirahman Abdi, PhD KWTRP, Kenya

Signature.....Date.....

Dr. Eunice Nduati, PhD KWTRP, Kenya

## DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to the late Dr. Geoffrey William Griffin (Founder and Director, The Starehe Boys' Centre) for giving me a learning opportunity and paving my way during my formative years.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

My utmost gratitude is to the Almighty God for giving me the energy, patience, and determination to accomplish this project despite the many hurdles along the way. I extend my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Abdirahman Abdi, Dr. Eunice Nduati, Dr. Joel Bargul, and Dr. Agnes Gwela for their mentorship, guidance, and encouragement throughout the life of this study. The knowledge and experiences gained from them and while working and consulting them is invaluable. Dr. Abdi and Dr. Agnes taught me to be independent in the lab while Dr. Eunice was always happy with my "a quick question" whenever I was stuck with Flow cytometry analysis.

I also wish to extend my gratitude to the Initiative to Develop African Research Leaders (IDeAL) under Prof. Samson Kinyanjui for according to me a scholarship platform under which I undertook my project. Special appreciation goes to Prof. Kinyanjui for stepping in severally when I was in financial challenges as well as checking on my progress. Same goes to Florence Kirimi, Liz Murabu, Dr. Dorcas Mbuvi, and Rita Baya for the support accorded to me. Similarly, I thank my fellow IDeAL awardees; Zaneta, Mudza, Prophet, Karisa, Leonard, Abidha, Wandia, Mwita, Waeni, and Mutinda.

KEMRI-Wellcome Trust gave me a venue where I did all my lab work and for this, I am grateful to the institution's management under Prof. Philip Bejon. I also cannot forget the much help that I gained from my lab colleagues especially in the malaria parasite culture and flow cytometry labs in kind and deed. To mention but a few, Jennie, Lydia, Jedidah, Debra, Faith, Getonto, Oscar Kai, Bediako, Nyamu, Silvia, Opiyo, Emily, Kioko, Hannah Kimingi, Barnes, Mosobo, Don, Wamae, Osoti, Towet, Nyanoti, Mitsanze, Masha, among many others, were very instrumental to the continuity of this project.

I am thankful to all the blood donors, their guardians and families for their consents and agreeing to give their blood for use in this project. Finally, I want to thank the Department of Biochemistry and JKUAT in whole for allowing me to enrol in the institution and get the opportunity to undertake the MSc course.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiv
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF FIGURES xii
LIST OF APPENDICESxiii
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS xiv
ABSTRACTxvi
CHAPTER ONE1
INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Background1
1.2 Statement of the Problem
1.3 Justification of the Study5
1.4 Research Question
1.5 Objectives
1.5.1 General Objective
1.5.2 Specific Objectives

1.6 Scope
CHAPTER TWO7
LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Malaria epidemiology7
2.2 Malaria cases and deaths
2.3 The life cycle of Plasmodium falciparum malaria parasite
2.3 Severe malaria pathogenesis
2.4 Immunity to malaria 12
2.5 Extracellular Vesicles
2.5.1 Small-sized EVs (sEVs)/Exosomes17
2.5.2 Uptake mechanisms of excreted EVs
2.6 Role of extracellular vesicles
2.6.1 Bacterial extracellular vesicles
2.6.2 Extracellular vesicles in cancer
2.6.3 Extracellular vesicles in parasitic infections
2.7 Role of EVs in malaria infection
CHAPTER THREE
METHODS
3.1 Study design

3.2 Ethical approval
3.3 Sourcing of PBMCs25
3.4 P. falciparum parasite culture
3.4.1 D-Sorbitol synchronization of <i>P. falciparum</i> -infected iRBCs27
3.4.2 Processing of culture conditioned media (CCM)
3.4.3 Isolation of iRBCs
3.5 Culture of uninfected red blood cells
3.6 Mycoplasma testing 30
3.7 Isolation of PfsEVs from culture-conditioned media
3.8 Processing of PBMCs
3.8.1 PBMC isolation
3.8.2 Thawing of cryopreserved PBMCs
3.9 PBMC assays
3.9.1 PBMCs stimulation and measuring of cell surface activation markers 35
3.9.2 PBMCs' proliferation assay – CFSE staining
3.10 The gating strategies
3.10.1 The PBMC stimulation data
3.10.2 The PBMC proliferation data
3.11 ELISA & Luminex assays to characterize stimulation cytokine profiles 41

3.12 Anti-schizont antibody ELISA
3.13 Data analysis
CHAPTER FOUR 44
RESULTS
4.1 Comparison of the quantities of small-sized extracellular vesicles (sEVs) released by infected RBCs and uninfected RBCs
4.2 Test for parasite culture and vesicles contamination
4.2 Effects of PfiRBCs and PfsEVs on T cells, B cells and monocytes
4.3 Impact of PfsEVs and PfiRBCs on T cell proliferation
4.4 The cytokine and chemokine profile of PBMC stimulated by PfsEVs and PfiRBCs
4.5 Previous exposure to malaria in responses to PfsEVs stimulation
CHAPTER FIVE 55
DISCUSSION
5.1 Discussion
CHAPTER SIX
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
6.1 Conclusions
6.2 Recommendations 58
REFERENCES

APPENDICES
------------

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 3.1:</b> Plasmodium falciparum parasite culture: Incomplete medium	. 26
Table 3.2: Mycoplasma PCR master-mix	. 31
Table 3.3: Mycoplasma thermocycling program	. 32
Table 3.4: Complete PBMCs culture medium (R10)	. 34

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Plasmodium falciparum life cycle 10
Figure 2.2: Malaria natural immunity increases with age
Figure 2.3: Formation and release of extracellular vesicles
Figure. 2.4: Mechanism of EVs' interactions between the donor and recipient cells.
Figure 3.1: Plasmodium falciparum parasite culture media harvesting
Figure 3.2: Isolation of EVs from malaria parasite culture media
Figure 3.3: The stimulation experimental setup
Figure 3.4: The proliferation experimental setup
Figure 3.5: The stimulation assay gating strategy
Figure 3.6: The proliferation assay gating strategy
Figure 4.1: EVs protein concentrations and mycoplasma results
Figure 4.2: Expression of CD25 and CD69 under different stimulation conditions 47
<b>Figure 4.3:</b> T cell proliferation
Figure 4.4: Significantly induced cytokines/chemokines
Figure 4.5: Cytokines/chemokines with insignificant levels of induction
<b>Figure 4.6:</b> The impact of prior malaria exposure on PBMC response to PfiRBCs and PfsEVs

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix I: Accepted research article for peer review	76
Appendix II: Initial ethics review approval from KEMRI/SERU	87
Appendix III: Updated ethics review approval from KEMRI/SERU	88
Appendix IV: Funding Statement	89

## ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

- COVID-19 Corona virus disease 2019 CCM Culture conditioned media DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid ELISA Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay EVs Extracellular vesicles Extracellular vesicles from uninfected red blood cells **EV-uRBCs** ILV Intraluminal vesicle **iRBCs** Infected red blood cells KEMRI Kenya Medical Research Institute **KWTRP** KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme mEVs Medium-sized extracellular vesicles MVB Multivesicular body
- **PBMCs** Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- *Pf*EMP1 *Plasmodium falciparum* erythrocyte membrane protein 1
- *PfiRBCs Plasmodium falciparum*-infected red blood cells
- *PfsEVs Plasmodium falciparum* small-sized extracellular vesicles
- **RBCs** Red blood cells

## **RNA** Ribonucleic acid

## **uRBCs** Uninfected RBCs

#### ABSTRACT

Overly increased immune activation is thought to play a key role in malaria pathogenesis. During blood stage infection, Plasmodium falciparum can directly interact with host immune cells through the infected red blood cells (PfiRBCs) but can also do so indirectly via the release of extracellular vesicles (EVs). This study compared the impact of PfiRBCs and P. falciparum small-sized EVs (PfsEVs, also known as exosomes) from a clinical parasite isolate (PfKE12) adapted to short-term laboratory culture conditions on host peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). *Pf*sEVs were isolated from cell-free culture-conditioned media by ultracentrifugation while mature trophozoite PfiRBCs were purified by magnetic column separation. The PfsEVs and the PfiRBCs were then co-cultured for 18 hours with the study PBMC. Cellular responses acquired were quantified by quantifying the cell surface expression of activation markers (CD25 & CD69) and cytokine/chemokine levels in the supernatant. PfsEVs induced CD25 expression on CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD19<sup>+</sup> and CD14<sup>+</sup> cells while PfiRBCs induced the same on CD19<sup>+</sup> and CD14<sup>+</sup> cells relative to the background. Both PfsEVs and PfiRBCs induced CD69 on CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD19<sup>+</sup> cells. Additionally, *Pf*iRBCs induced higher expression of CD69 on CD14<sup>+</sup> cells. CD69 induced by *Pf*iRBCs on CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD19<sup>+</sup> cells were significantly higher than that induced by *Pf*sEVs. The secretion of MIP1 $\alpha$ , MIP1 $\beta$ , GM-CSF, IL-6, IL-8, and TNF $\alpha$  were significantly induced by both *Pfs*EVs and *Pfi*RBCs whereas MCP-1, IL-10, IL-17 $\alpha$  were preferentially induced by *Pf*sEVs and IP-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  by *Pf*iRBCs. Prior exposure to malaria (judged by antibodies to schizont extract) was associated with lower monocyte responses to PfsEVs. PfsEVs and PfiRBCs showed differential abilities to induce secretion of IL-17 $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  suggesting that the former is better at inducing Th17, whilst the latter induce Th1 immune responses, respectively. Prior exposure to malaria significantly reduces the ability of PfsEVs to activate monocytes, suggesting immune tolerance to PfsEVs may play a role in naturally acquired anti-disease immunity.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Background**

Malaria remains a public health challenge in the world and especially in sub-Saharan Africa. In 2020, there was an estimated 241 million cases of malaria and about 627,000 deaths globally (WHO Malaria Report, 2021). Majority of the burden falls on children below five years accounting for 67% of the deaths. Sub-Saharan Africa bears the major brunt of malaria since 95% of the global malaria cases and 96% of deaths were reported in this region (WHO Malaria Report, 2021).

*Plasmodium falciparum*, one of the five species that infect humans, is the most lethal among the human malaria parasites and accounted for almost all the malaria cases in the African region (WHO Malaria Report, 2021). The other species infecting humans are *Plasmodium vivax*, *Plasmodium malariae*, *Plasmodium ovale* and *Plasmodium knowlesi* which was previously thought to only infect primates but recently found to infect humans (White, 2008).

*P. falciparum* parasites have a complex life cycle involving human and mosquito hosts. In the human host, the parasite goes through two stages, the liver, and blood stages and it is the blood stage that is responsible for the pathology of malaria. The exact pathogenesis of severe malaria remains unknown although several factors including host inflammatory responses (Cunnington et al., 2013), parasite burden (Dondorp et al., 2005) and sequestration of infected red blood cells (Taylor et al., 2004) are thought to play major roles. In severe form of the disease, infected erythrocytes have been shown to stick to epithelial cells to escape splenic clearance. This leads to blockage of microvasculature and exacerbated disease (Taylor et al., 2004; Turner et al., 2013). This binding/sticking is through endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR) and is thought to induce inflammation (Turner et al., 2013), but parasite factors independent of cytoadhesion have also been suggested to induce widespread inflammation and endothelial activation (Abdi et al., 2014; Hanson et al., 2015; Tripathi et al, 2009).

In endemic areas, people acquire natural immunity that initially protects against severe malaria and finally against mild malaria. Naturally acquired immunity to *P*. *falciparum* parasite infection has been shown to develop slowly; requiring long and continued exposure to the pathogen, often never sterile and in an age-dependent manner (Langhorne et ., 2008; Struik & Riley, 2004). Antigenic variations are thought to play a role in the slow development of the naturally acquired immunity but parasite secreted effectors that are able to manipulate the host immune response may also have a role (Abdi et al., 2017; Das et al., 2013; Hanson et al., 2015; MacDonald et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2012; Tripathi et al., 2009).

One way in which secreted effector molecules are released from cells is through extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs are double-layered membrane-bound molecules that are released by cells. They are usually classified into two major subgroups; the small-sized and medium-sized extracellular vesicles (Théry et al., 2018) often termed as exosomes and microvesicles respectively (Raposo & Stoorvogel, 2013; Théry et al., 2009). The small-sized extracellular vesicles (sEVs) are vesicles with a diameter ranging between 30-150 nm. They are generated through inward budding of the limiting membrane of late endosomes resulting in the formation of intraluminal vesicles (ILVs). During the inward budding of the endosomal membrane, cytosolic proteins such as those involved in glycolysis, RNA, lipids, and metabolites are sorted into the ILVs. Late endosomes containing many ILVs are called multivesicular bodies (MVBs) which then fuse with the cell membranes and release ILVs into the extracellular space as exosomes or sEVs (Raposo & Stoorvogel, 2013; Théry et al., 2018). The medium-sized EVs (mEVs) have a diameter range of 100-1000 nm and are formed when part of the cell plasma membrane 'pinches-off' with part of the cytoplasm and surface receptors/proteins and are released into the extracellular milieu (Raposo & Stoorvogel, 2013). Due to the overlap in their diameters, exosomes and microvesicles are termed as 'extracellular vesicles'.

EVs have been shown to have the ability to transfer packaged effector molecules (including proteins, lipids, nucleic acids, and metabolites) from one cell to another, hence, modifying the properties of the recipient target cell(s) (Kalluri, 2016; Schorey et al., 2015; Théry et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2016). Research in the pathophysiology

of several diseases like cancer (Costa-Silva et al., 2015; Hodgson et al., 2015; Kalluri, 2016) and infectious diseases (Mantel et al., 2013; Marti & Johnson, 2016; Neta Regev-Rudzki et al., 2013; Szempruch, Sykes, et al., 2016; O Twu et al., 2013) have demonstrated a role of EVs in mediating intercellular interactions (Mantel et al., 2013; Regev-Rudzki et al., 2013; Szempruch et al., 2016; Théry et al., 2009; Twu et al., 2013). Tumor and pathogen derived EVs have been shown to have the ability to abrogate the host immunological defense mechanisms as a way of evading immune responses within the host (Buck et al., 2014; Filipazzi et al., 2012; Lambertz et al., 2012; Swatler et al., 2020; Szempruch et al., 2016).

In the context of malaria, P. falciparum EVs (PfEVs) have a role in intercellular communication as well as in inducing sexual commitment (Mantel et al., 2013; Regev-Rudzki et al., 2013). Extracellular vesicles reflect the molecular phenotype of their cells of origin (Kalluri, 2016). To this end, analysis of the impact of hostparasite interactions mediated by PfEVs may improve our understanding of the pathogenesis of severe malaria and the mechanisms through which the parasite modulates the host immune response. Furthermore, proteomic analysis revealed that *Pf*EVs are enriched in parasite proteins involved in interaction with the host cells (Abdi et al., 2017; Mantel et al., 2013) and have been shown to induce inflammation (Mantel et al., 2013) and endothelial activation (Mantel et al., 2016). However, to date, all studies on the impact of *Plasmodium* EVs on host immune response have been performed using either rodent malaria (Demarta-Gatsi et al., 2019; Martin-Jaular et al., 2011) or using long-term laboratory-adapted P. falciparum isolates (Mantel et al., 2013; Sisquella et al., 2017). This current study is the first to use a P. falciparum clinical isolate. The quantity and repertoire of PfEVs from clinical isolates appear to be different from that of long-term laboratory-adapted parasite isolates (Abdi et al., 2017) and this may affect their functional impact on the host immune cells. This study aimed to compare the functional impact of PfsEVs and the autochthonous PfiRBCs of a clinical isolate adapted to short-term culture (<70 cycles) on human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC).

#### **1.2 Statement of the Problem**

Malaria disease remains one of the major public health concerns worldwide despite the huge investments made in its fight. In 2020, for instance, the total funding for malaria control and elimination stood at about US\$ 3.3 billion. Despite this, there were over a quarter million cases and more than half a million deaths recorded (WHO Malaria Report, 2021). Additionally, majority of these cases and deaths occur in the tropics. Sadly, many of the countries in the tropics are faced with a huge burden of infectious diseases and malaria only exacerbates the public health challenge. In 2020, for example, 95% of global malaria cases and 96% of global deaths recorded in the sub-Saharan Africa with the under-fives bearing the major brunt of the disease (WHO Malaria Report, 2021). Majority of deaths from malaria are due to a severe form of the disease called severe malaria. Severe malaria is a complicated multi-syndromic disease condition whose pathogenesis remains to be fully understood. It often manifests as cerebral malaria, severe malaria anaemia and respiratory distress (WHO Malaria Report, 2021).

The cause(s) of severe malaria remains to be fully understood. However, parasite sequestration (found in infected erythrocytes), endothelial dysfunction, and host inflammatory responses are thought to play major roles. Induction of inflammation and endothelial activation may involve the interaction of *P. falciparum*-infected erythrocytes with host endothelia through endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR) but it may also involve factors independent of cytoadhesion (Abdi et al., 2014; Hanson et al., 2015; Tripathi et al., 2009). These factors include *P. falciparum* extracellular vesicles released by the parasite (Mantel P.Y. et al., 2013). There remains, therefore, a need to further understand the interaction between the malaria parasite and the human host. This study investigated the impacts of *Pf*sEVs from a *P. falciparum* clinical isolate and its purified infected erythrocytes on host immune cells. The host immune cells were obtained from consented malaria-exposed and non-exposed volunteers to test whether prior/recent exposure to malaria modifies the host immune response to parasite.

#### **1.3 Justification of the Study**

Malaria is still a major cause of morbidity and mortality especially in the sub-Saharan African region with P. falciparum as the most lethal malaria parasite (WHO Malaria Report, 2021). The exact pathogenesis of severe malaria remains to be elucidated. Moreover, different people respond differently to the invading pathogen to end up with severe, uncomplicated, or asymptomatic malaria. Apart from infected erythrocytes/RBCs, several factors, including virulence of the invading parasite, are thought of to be the reasons for the severity of the disease (Gonçalves et al., 2014). Recently, P. falciparum extracellular vesicles (PfEVs) packaged with effector molecules have been shown to be released by infected erythrocytes and involved in intercellular communications (Mantel et al., 2013; Regev-Rudzki et al., 2013). To further understand the interaction between the malaria parasite and the human host and the outcome thereof, this study was necessary. The knowledge gained from this understanding will add onto efforts towards designing products such as vaccines designed to stop the parasite from attacking its human host. The study, therefore, hypothesized that PfsEVs and infected RBCs (PfiRBCs) from P. falciparum clinical isolate will have varying potency in inducing activation on PBMCs. Additionally, there was an interest to elucidate whether continued exposure to the parasite factors (PfiRBCs and PfsEVs) may have any bearing on response of PBMC.

#### **1.4 Research Question**

- 1. Do *Plasmodium falciparum* small-sized extracellular vesicles (*Pf*sEVs) and *Plasmodium falciparum* infected red blood cells (*Pf*iRBCs) activate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC)?
- 2. What are the effects of *Plasmodium falciparum* small-sized extracellular vesicles (*Pfs*EVs) and *Plasmodium falciparum* infected red blood cells (*Pfi*RBCs) on T cell proliferation?
- 3. What inflammatory cytokines/chemokines are released by PBMC upon exposure to *Plasmodium falciparum* small-sized extracellular vesicles (*Pf*sEVs) and *Plasmodium falciparum* infected red blood cells (*Pf*iRBCs)?

## 1.5 Objectives

## **1.5.1 General Objective**

To determine the impact of *Plasmodium falciparum* small-sized extracellular vesicles (*Pf*sEVs) and *Plasmodium falciparum* infected red blood cells (*Pf*iRBCs) on host immune cells *in vitro*.

## **1.5.2 Specific Objectives**

- 1. To determine whether *Pfs*EVs and *Pfi*RBCs activate PBMC
- 2. To determine the effect(s) of *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs on T cells' proliferation
- 3. To elucidate the level of selected inflammatory cytokines released by PBMC upon exposure to *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs

## 1.6 Scope

This thesis describes and discusses *in vitro* experiments and results obtained in a labbased *P. falciparum* parasite culture and cellular assays.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Malaria epidemiology

Malaria is caused by a *Plasmodium* parasite that is transmitted through the bite of an infected female Anopheles spp mosquito. There are five known species of *Plasmodia* that infect humans: *Plasmodium malariae*, *P. falciparum*, *P. ovale*, *P. vivax* and the recently described *P. knowlesi* as the fifth human malaria parasite (White, 2008).

Malaria is majorly found concentrated in the world tropics that are hot and humid with undulating high and low malaria transmission seasons. *P. falciparum* contributes the largest burden of global malaria followed by *P. vivax* (Snow et al., 2005). Infections due to *P. falciparum* parasite are majorly concentrated in the sub-Saharan region (WHO Malaria Report, 2021) while *P. vivax* infection is more common in South-East Asia and South America (Price et al., 2007; WHO Malaria Report, 2021). Both species though are found occurring in South-East Asia. The other species are uncommon and only found in the endemic regions, for example, the sub-Saharan region for *P. malariae* and southern parts of Asia (mostly Thailand) for the *P. knowlesi* species (White, 2008).

There has been a global decline in the incidence rates of malaria between 2000 and 2020 from 81 to 59 cases/1000 people at risk. The slight increase in 2020 compared to 56 in 2019 was due to service disruptions during the COVID-19 pandemic (WHO Malaria Report, 2021).

#### 2.2 Malaria cases and deaths

In 2020, there were an estimated 241 million cases of malaria worldwide compared to 227 million cases in 2019, an increase brought by the COVID-19 pandemic and disruption of services. Out of these, the World Health Organization (WHO) African region accounted for 95% of all the cases with the rest occurring in South-East Asia (2%) and elsewhere (3%) (WHO Malaria Report, 2021).

Additionally, WHO estimated the 2020 global mortality from malaria to be 627,000 deaths compared with 558,000 deaths the previous year, and 562,000 deaths in 2015. The 12% increase in deaths from the 2019 figures was attributed to COVID-19. From these, the African region accounted for 96% of all deaths while the rest were in the South-East Asia, the Americas, and the Mediterranean regions. The under-fives remain the most vulnerable group and accounted for 77% of all the 2020 malaria deaths (WHO Malaria Report, 2021).

*P. falciparum* remains the most prevalent parasite in the WHO African region and accounted for most of the estimated malaria cases and consequently majority of the deaths in 2020 (WHO Malaria Report, 2021). The pathogenesis of this *P. falciparum* malaria is linked to the life cycle of the parasite. Below, I will briefly describe the life cycle of *P. falciparum* as the study described in this thesis focuses on this species.

#### 2.3 The life cycle of Plasmodium falciparum malaria parasite

P. falciparum has a complex life cycle that alternates between its mosquito vector and the human host. The human infection starts when a malaria infected female Anopheline mosquito injects between 1 to 100 mature sporozoites from her salivary glands into the bloodstream of a human host during a blood meal. About 5-10% of the injected sporozoites travel through the bloodstream and infect hepatocytes (Ferreira et al., 1986) from where they undergo mitotic cell division and mature into schizonts. Each schizont forms about 30,000 merozoites (Jones & Good, 2006) which are released as merozomes when a hepatocyte ruptures after about 6-7 days. This is termed as the exoerythrocytic schizogony and is an asymptomatic stage in the host. The parasites then enter the erythrocytic cycle which constitutes asexual multiplication. The released merozoites from ruptured hepatocytes invade erythrocytes in the blood. After the invasion, the merozoites will then mature and divide to form schizonts that contain between 8 and 32 merozoites. The infected erythrocyte will eventually rupture to release daughter merozoites into the bloodstream which can then invade fresh red blood cells and the cycle starts all over again (Figure 2.1). The entire erythrocytic cycle from invasion to rupturing of red

blood cells takes around 48 hours for *Plasmodium falciparum* leading to an exponential increase in the number of parasites. It is suggested that the intermittent release of merozoites is responsible for the rise in the symptoms of malaria that is observed in the host (Langhorne et al., 2008). This, in turn, is responsible for the recurrent fevers and clinical manifestations of malaria disease in humans.

Some parasites while in the erythrocytes will differentiate into male and female gametocytes which constitutes the sexual erythrocytic cycle. The male (microgametocytes) and female (macrogametocytes) gametocytes will then be picked up and ingested by a female Anopheles mosquito during a blood meal. Once ingested, the gametocytes fuse and travel to the mosquito's midgut and mature to form zygotes. The zygotes will then become polar and elongate to form a motile and invasive stage called ookinete. The ookinete transverses the mosquito's midgut wall into the hemoceal and develop into oocysts by undergoing several rounds of mitotic cell divisions. These oocysts will then grow and divide to produce thousands of haploid forms called sporozoites. After the sporogonic phase, the oocysts rupture releasing sporozoites into the mosquito's body cavity which then find their way into the mosquito's salivary glands from where they can be transmitted during a blood meal in a human host (Figure 2.1) starting the cycle all over again (Josling & Llinás, 2015).



## Figure 2.1: Plasmodium falciparum life cycle

## 2.3 Severe malaria pathogenesis

Severe malaria (SM) is a complicated and multi-faceted disease whose exact pathogenesis remains unknown. However, unique characteristics of cerebral malaria (CM)/impaired consciousness, severe malarial anaemia, and respiratory distress (RD) define this condition (Cunnington et al., 2013; WHO Malaria Report, 2021). Each of the different forms of SM has some defining properties that are used to stratify them. Parasite sequestration of infected red blood cells (mainly in the brain microvasculature) has been described as the major cause of cerebral malaria (White

et al., 2014). This sequestration phenomenon is unique to *P. falciparum* and, hence, distinguishes this parasite from other Plasmodium species causing malaria. This also makes *P. falciparum* the deadliest among the Plasmodia species. The manifestation of CM is, however, different in experimental mouse models making it challenging to translate findings to human studies (Craig et al., 2012).

An additionally associated characteristic of severe malaria is the host immune response marked by excessive production of cytokines. These cytokines include tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and interleukin-10 (IL-10). The inflammatory responses are higher in CM and RD than in mild or uncomplicated malaria (Cunnington et al., 2013). Though that, the cause of this immunopathology in humans remains to be fully established although parasite sequestration is thought to be a major cause.

Parasites (iRBCs) sequestration is the process of infected erythrocytes (IEs) attaching themselves to the surfaces of endothelial cells that make up the inner wall of blood vessels as a strategy to avoid splenic clearance. The highly polymorphic P. falciparum erythrocyte membrane protein 1 (PfEMP1) family of proteins that are encoded by the var gene are responsible for binding of these IEs to the endothelial surfaces. The IEs have been shown to bind via endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR) (Turner et al., 2013). This binding has been suggested to hinder the interaction of the EPCR with its activated protein C (APC) (Turner et al., 2013), which is key in maintaining the integrity of vascular endothelial structure (Bouwens et al., 2013). Consequently, lack of such structural integrity has been hypothesized to be one of the factors that induce inflammation and endothelial activation in the host (Moxon et al., Turner et al., 2013). However, other studies have shown that 2013: inflammation/endothelial activation is induced in a process independent of cytoadhesion (Tripathi et al, 2009) ranging from microvascular obstruction (Hanson et al., 2015) to antigenic variation and PfEMP1 expression (Abdi et al., 2014). Taken together, findings from these other studies suggest that other parasite factors independent of cytoadhesion are in part responsible for the observed widespread inflammation/endothelial activation associated with severe malaria.

#### 2.4 Immunity to malaria

The immune system forms an integral part of the human body with a mechanism for recognizing and responding to foreign antigens from pathogens and fighting off infections. These immune responses can be through the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system or both. Cytokines, chemokines and other inflammatory immune mediators are responsible for activating and recruiting immune cells to sites of infection resulting in the elimination of the invading pathogen(s) (Schorey et al., 2015). Lymphocytes are the most important group of these immune cells. They include B cells, T cells, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, natural killer cells, among others. B and T cells are especially key in the establishment of the adaptive immune system. Macrophages and dendritic cells are also useful as antigen presenting cells (APCs) and in linking-up the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system.

The type of immune response mounted is dependent on the nature of the invading parasite. The response can thus be either cellular; similar to that of natural killer cells and cytotoxic T cells or can be humoral through the production of antibodies and cytokines. The main function of B cells is the production of antibodies to specific antigens presented by APCs and retention/establishment of a memory repertoire of the various antigens encountered by the immune system. The subset of lymphocytes that remain as antigen-specific memory cells can mount a faster and targeted immune response upon re-infection by the same antigen.

T cells, on the other hand, give 'help' to B cells through production of cytokines so that those B cells can produce quality antigen-specific antibodies. Part of these T cells also forms a group of those lymphocytes that remain as antigen-specific memory cells upon clearance of the invading pathogen.

The invading pathogens have unique pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) which elicit the immune responses experienced during an infection. These PAMPs are of diverse structures including proteins, lipids, carbohydrates, and genetic material (DNA and RNA). Different pathogens display diverse set(s) of PAMPs. Conversely, host immune cells have pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)

on their surfaces that interact with PAMPs. B cells' activation, for example, happens via B cell receptor (BCR), CD40, Toll-like receptors (TLRs), and cytokines' receptors among other PRRs. Hence, an immune response is initiated when there is an interaction between PAMPs and PRRs on immune cells leading to a cascade of reactions and cell signaling (Schorey et al., 2015). Pathogens can either be intracellular (such as *P. falciparum*) or extracellular (like Toxoplasma) with specific types of PRRs for each. Depending on the type of PAMPs (whether from an intracellular or extracellular pathogen), the immune system has a way of responding to each accordingly.

Immunity to malaria has been the subject of research for a long time with many researchers first trying to understand the concept of natural immunity and how it is formed. Natural immunity is that which comes about without inducement of a vaccine but through an infection and recovery from the infection. The memory lymphocytes that remain after the infection is cleared are critical regarding how the immune system responds to a subsequent infection from a similar pathogen. Naturally acquired immunity to *P. falciparum* parasite infection has been shown to be slow to develop, often never sterile and is age-dependent (Figure) (Langhorne et al., 2008; Portugal, Pierce, & Crompton, 2013; Struik & Riley, 2004). Despite that, individuals who grow up in malaria endemic area acquire immunity first to severe malaria, then mild, and never against asymptomatic infection (Langhorne et al., 2008).



## Figure 2.2: Malaria natural immunity increases with age

As previously mentioned, children are the most vulnerable to malaria (WHO Malaria Report, 2021) compared to the older children who often get either mild or asymptomatic infections. Acquisition of natural immunity is, therefore, determined by age and exposure (Weiss et al., 2010) (Figure). Those people living in malariaendemic areas tend to tolerate infections which result in effective priming of antiblood stage immune responses against the parasites. These responses finally confer significant levels of humoral and cellular immunity. During subsequent infections, there is a decline in parasite density, prevalence, and severity of malaria in those individuals. This points to the development of a degree of natural immunity and antiparasitic effector mechanisms (Langhorne et al., 2008). This concept of natural immunity to malaria was first demonstrated in the early 1960s. Passive transfer of serum from naturally immune adults to children with clinical malaria was shown to reduce disease severity and parasitemia (Cohen, McGregor, & Carrington, 1961). Several factors are thought to contribute to the slow development of natural immunity against malaria. These include clonal antigenic variation (Takala & Plowe, 2009), alternate allelic forms, and polymorphism within parasite populations (Cunnington et al., 2013), implying one requires accumulating variant-specific immunity in order to achieve a 'fairly' protective immunity (Illingworth et al., 2013). Another possible mechanism could be due to direct parasite interference with the host immune system in a way that supports parasite survival (Abdi et al., 2017).

Both B and T cells are key in naturally acquired immunity to P. falciparum malaria. As earlier demonstrated, antibodies and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Cohen et al., 1961) are key in protection against blood-stage *Plasmodium* parasite infections. Further to this, it was established that chronic infections drove T cells to exhaustion and dysfunction thus rendering suboptimal functions (Horne-Debets et al., 2013; Illingworth et al., 2013). This phenomenon is similarly seen in chronic viral infections (Day et al., 2006; Wherry et al., 2007) as well as in parasitic diseases. Indeed, repeated exposure to malaria antigens drives the expression of T cell inhibitory receptors including programmed cell death-1 receptor (PD-1) and lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG-3) (Illingworth et al., 2013) that lead to poor effector function (Horne-Debets et al., 2013). Consequently, these poor T cell effector functions could be one of the major reasons for poor natural immunity against malaria (Wykes et al., 2014). In a recent finding, Bediako and colleagues found that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells of continuously exposed individuals to malaria parasite proliferated less when stimulated with P. falciparum iRBCs than those of 'historically exposed'. This points to changes that are instituted by continued exposure to *P. falciparum* parasite (Bediako et al., 2016).

Malaria parasites may also evade humoral immunity through dysregulation of B cell responses (Portugal et al., 2013; Weiss et al., 2009). Further studies suggest that this dysregulation could also be through subversion of their normal functions by making them 'weak' or 'exhausted' (Illingworth et al., 2013). A similar phenomenon was demonstrated in patients suffering from HIV and Hepatitis B and C infections (Moir & Fauci, 2009; Wherry, 2011). Illingworth and colleagues termed this 'exhausted'

memory B cell phenotype as 'atypical' in relation to malaria immunity (Illingworth et al., 2013). Consequently, key B cell responses like proliferation, cytokine production, and antibody secretion are impaired, hence, reduced effector function and inefficient acquisition of effective humoral immunity to malaria (Portugal et al., 2015).

Therefore, the malaria parasite (*P. falciparum*), just like other pathogens is thought to fine-tune the host immune responses in a way that promotes its survival in that host. Secretions from cells infected by these pathogens, in addition to apoptotic bodies and cell debris, have been shown to have the potential to deliver their pathogenic material to host cells or tissues in their vicinity (Ashida et al., 2011). One of such delivery processes is by extracellular vesicles whose study has gained momentum in the last three decades.

#### 2.5 Extracellular Vesicles

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) is a collective term used to define membrane-bound vacuoles released from cells under different physiological conditions for different functions (Raposo & Stoorvogel, 2013). They are found in many biological fluids including urine, saliva, nasal fluids, amniotic fluids, serum, plasma and seminal fluids, (Caby et al., 2005; Keller et al., 2011; Pisitkun et al., 2004) among others. Due to this, EVs have different origins, functions, physical characteristics, and compositions often dependent on the cellular source, state, and environmental conditions (Buzas et al., 2015).

EVs are characterized by size, floatation density and the presence of proteins (used as markers) with divergent functions on their surface. Majority of these proteins are used for transport and fusion. These include GTPases, annexins, Rab, flotillin, components of the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) such as Alix, heat shock proteins (HSPs), tumor susceptibility gene 101 (TSG101) and tetraspanins [e.g. CD63 and CD81] (Chaput & Théry, 2011; Record et al., 2011; Simons & Raposo, 2009; Théry et al., 2009).

As earlier mentioned, EVs are majorly classified into two major sub-groups; smallsized and medium-sized EVs; often termed as exosomes and microvesicles, respectively (Théry et al., 2018). This thesis will focus on the small-sized EVs (sEVs) that are less than 200nm and that fall within exosomes but may also contain some microvesicles.

#### 2.5.1 Small-sized EVs (sEVs)/Exosomes

Exosomes are small membrane/endosomal-derived nanovesicles that were identified over three decades ago (Harding et al., 1983) during studies of transferrin receptor trafficking in reticulocytes' maturation process and later in other cells (Théry et al., 2009). These transferrin receptors function to mediate intracellular iron uptake necessary for hemoglobin synthesis. During reticulocyte maturation, reticulocytes were described as having large 'sacs' enclosing other small sacs or vesicles and these vesicles were termed "exosomes."

Exosomes have a diameter range of 30-150nm and have an endocytic cellular origin. They result from the inward invagination of the limiting membrane of the late endosomes which leads to the formation of intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) (Abels & Breakefield, 2016). In the process, different molecules including cytosolic proteins, lipids and RNA are normally sorted into these ILVs. Multiple ILVs contained in the late endosomes are called multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and once they fuse with the cellular plasma membrane release the ILVs as exosomes into the extracellular space (Figure) (Colombo, Raposo, & Théry, 2014; Harding et al., 1983; Schorey & Bhatnagar, 2008; Théry, Zitvogel, & Amigorena, 2002). The density of these exosomes ranges between 1.13 to 1.19g/ml and pellet at 100,000×g (Raposo & Stoorvogel, 2013).



Exosomes formed as ILVs collect in early endosomes and are released extracellularly when MVBs (or MVEs-multivesicular endosomes) fuse with the plasma membrane. Other MVEs fuse with lysosomes. Microvesicles bud directly from the plasma membrane. The different shapes on released exosomes represent various membrane-associated molecules [(figure adapted with modifications from (Raposo & Stoorvogel, 2013)].

## Figure 2.3: Formation and release of extracellular vesicles

## 2.5.2 Uptake mechanisms of excreted EVs

Phagocytosis is thought to be the most common form of uptake of EVs (Christianson et al., 2013; Mantel et al., 2013; Morelli et al., 2004) with macrophages and monocytes being described as the main targets. Three mechanisms of these EVs' interaction with the recipient cells have been suggested to be: receptor-mediated binding, membrane-membrane fusion and entry through the endocytic pathway (Figure.) (Cocucci & Meldolesi, 2015; Szempruch et al., 2016; Théry et al., 2009). Once bound, the EVs may remain in association with the plasma membrane, dissociate, fuse with that target cell(s) or be internalized (Raposo & Stoorvogel, 2013; Szempruch et al., 2016; Théry et al., 2016; Théry et al., 2019).



EVs may be released by the donor cell (a) either as ectosomes/microvesicles that 'pinch off' from the surface of the plasma membrane with receptor proteins or they can be exosomes that are released once the MVBs fuse with the plasma membrane and empty their ILVs as exosomes extracellularly. Released EVs will then interact with the recipient cell (b) through plasma membrane fusion, endocytosis or by receptor-mediated uptake (Szempruch, Dennison, et al., 2016).

# Figure. 2.4: Mechanism of EVs' interactions between the donor and recipient cells.

## 2.6 Role of extracellular vesicles

## 2.6.1 Bacterial extracellular vesicles

Both gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria produce extracellular vesicles (mainly termed 'outer membrane vesicles, OMVs) (Lee et al., 2009). This is an essential and a highly conserved biological function, and especially in the gram-negative bacteria. These OMVs seem to be involved in several functions including molecular transport, the formation of biofilms, mediating of stress responses, as well
as interactions with their hosts (Manning & Kuehn, 2011; McBroom & Kuehn, 2007).

In transport and delivery, bacteria use OMVs as trafficking vehicles for molecules key in intracellular communications as well as quorum sensing (Mashurn-Warren, Mclean, & Whitley, 2008; Mashburn & Whiteley, 2005). Additionally, OMVs can facilitate the horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance between bacteria(Mashburn-Warren & Whiteley, 2006) or the delivery of toxins and virulence factors (Rivera et al., 2010).

As pointed out earlier, EVs may be produced by cells during stressful conditions, and this is a key function exploited by bacteria. To this end, they use OMVs to sequester and export away stressors like heat shock proteins (McBroom & Kuehn, 2007), to protect themselves against complement factors as well as against anti-bacterial peptides (Manning & Kuehn, 2011). For example, EVs released from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* were shown to modulate immune responses via IFN- $\gamma$  (Singh et al., 2011) and through inducing varied cytokine responses with an inhibitory role in T cell activation (Yang et al., 2012).

Bacterial biofilms, on the other hand, are key in the survival, protection, and persistence of the bacterial colony/community. OMVs are thus key both in the formation and maintenance of the integrity of extracellular matrix found in bacterial biofilms. These OMVs are involved in the transport of molecules within the matrix as well as antibiotic resistance thus enhancing survival of the bacteria (Inagaki et al., 2006; Schooling et al., 2009).

Moreover, bacterial OMVs have a vital function of maintaining interactions with their hosts. This applies to both pathogenic and symbiotic interactions which are crucial in physiological balance thus ensuring maintenance of epithelial barrier integrity. Human bacterial flora, for example, is found colonizing different organs including the skin where they interact with different cell types. These bacteria use OMVs which can cross the epithelial tissues to interact and exert their effects especially on immune cells (Zhang et al., 2013).

## 2.6.2 Extracellular vesicles in cancer

The immunological functions of EVs in the context of tumors vary and range with emphasis on tumor antigen presentation and modulation of tumor immunity (Greening et al., 2015). As such, cancer cell-associated exosomes have been shown to activate natural killer (NK) cells and play a role in activating B and T cells via dendritic cells' (DC) differentiation. These exosomes may also be involved in promoting immune subversion through impairment of DC maturation (Kalluri, 2016) and independent of IL-10 (Deaglio et al., 2007).

Muller and colleagues also demonstrated that tumor-derived exosomes (TEX) target immune response-regulating genes and induce changes in transcriptional profiles of T cells (Muller et al., 2016). In yet another experiment, these exosomes were also described to induce activation and expansion of human regulatory T cells (Tregs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Iero et al., 2008).

Collectively, tumor cell-associated exosomes are thought to suppress immune cell functions such as inhibiting functions of CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes through induction of apoptosis (Kim et al., 2005) and suppressing cytolysis by constraining functions of NK cells (Whiteside, 2013). This downregulation of key immune cells' functions promotes tumor progression and regulation of peripheral tolerance in cancer patients (Whiteside, 2013). However, other studies reported that exosomes released by tumor-activated DCs also had anti-tumor effects as well as activation of naïve CD4 T cells (Théry et al., 2002).

## 2.6.3 Extracellular vesicles in parasitic infections

Extracellular vesicles have been shown to play a role in pathogenic protozoans which, overall, contributes to their development, disease progression and pathology while in the host. In context, they have been demonstrated to modulate the immune systems of their hosts by eliciting varied inflammatory responses (Szempruch et al., 2016). Various emerging roles of EVs in Kinetoplastids that include Leishmania *spp*, *Trypanosoma cruzi* and *Trypanosoma brucei* as well as the Apicomplexa

*Toxoplasma gondii* and *Plasmodium falciparum* have been described (Marti & Johnson, 2016; Szempruch et al., 2016).

*T. brucei brucei* are non-infective in humans since they are readily eliminated by the host serum factors called trypanosome lytic factors (TLFs). EVs from *T. brucei rhodesiense,* an infective species in humans, have been shown to transfer serum-resistance protein (SRA) to the non-lethal *T. brucei brucei brucei* when co-cultured thus rendering them lethal and infective in the host (Szempruch et al., 2016). This might be a pointer to the mixed human trypanosome infections which in turn promote the parasite survival in their hosts (Stephens & Hajduk, 2011) as well as causing host anemia (Marti & Johnson, 2016; Szempruch et al., 2016; Szempruch et al., 2016). *T. cruzi* have also been shown to release EVs that are enriched with immunogenic proteins and tRNA-derived small RNAs (tsRNAs) (Garcia-Silva et al., 2014). These tRNAs are also transferred between cells in a similar manner as well as the released EVs causing differentiation of *T. cruzi* and promoting infection susceptibility of host cells (Garcia-Silva et al., 2014).

Leishmania parasites have also been shown to release EVs that suppress immune responses and modulate pro-inflammatory responses including changes in interleukin levels (Silverman et al., 2010). The downregulation of pro-inflammatory genes and suppression of macrophage activation are thought to promote their survival in the host.

*Trichomonas vaginalis* likewise secrete EVs that contain proteins and small RNAs as is the case in other parasites (Twu et al., 2013). These EVs are described to increase parasite adherence to host cells *in vitro* of the poorly adhering G3 parasite strains (Twu et al., 2013). Other *T. vaginalis* strains with preferential binding to prostrate rather than vaginal epithelial cells can also transfer the phenotype in those strains lacking the preferential binding properties. In addition, *T. vaginalis* EVs have been demonstrated to modulate host immune responses by dampening IL-8 responses while inducing an IL-6 response (Twu et al., 2013). Reduced IL-8 production (key in anti-parasite activity) means enhanced parasite survival through adherence to epithelial walls and reduced clearance due to remodeled/dampened immune

responses (Marti & Johnson, 2016). Helminths have also displayed similar immune modulation properties (Chaiyadet et al., 2015) that promote their survival.

## 2.7 Role of EVs in malaria infection

Infection with malaria triggers the release of EVs from various cell types including endothelial cells, platelets, and red blood cells (Marti & Johnson, 2016). Plasmodium infection (both in human and murine models), and especially *P. falciparum* infection (Pankoui et al., 2010) leads to an overall increase in circulating EV numbers resulting from host erythrocytes as well as other cell types (Campos et al., 2010; El-Assaad et al., 2014; Nantakomol et al., 2011).

EVs contain packaged effector molecules with the ability to transfer them from one cell (donor) to another (recipient) and, hence, modifying the properties of those recipient/target cells (Kalluri, 2016; Schorey et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2016). *Pf*EVs were described to have a key role in parasite-parasite communication including inducing sexual commitment (Mantel et al., 2013; Regev-Rudzki et al., 2013) as well as contributing to increased inflammation and inflammatory responses in the host.

These EVs released during such Plasmodia infections have been shown to result to pro- and anti-inflammatory responses (Mantel & Marti, 2014; Marcilla et al., 2014; Marti & Johnson, 2016). These increased pro-inflammatory responses are helpful to the parasites for their survival within the host. Consequently, they may help in endothelial cell activation and dysfunction which promotes IEs/iRBCs' sequestration to the body's microvasculature and related pathologies (Mantel et al., 2013; Marti & Johnson, 2016). In rodent malaria, for example, EVs from *P. berghei*-infected mice with cerebral malaria co-cultured with macrophages were shown to cause increased expression of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and CD40. These EVs caused cerebral lesions in addition to adhering to blood vessels in the brain when transferred to naïve mice indicating a role in malaria pathology (El-Assaad et al., 2014).

As earlier opined, the exact pathogenesis of severe malaria remains to be established although parasite sequestration is thought to be a major cause as it leads to inflammation and endothelial activation (Moxon et al., 2013; Turner et al., 2013). However, widespread endothelial activation and sequestration have been found to be independently associated with severe malaria (Abdi et al., 2014; Hanson et al., 2015). This suggests that other parasite factors that are independent of the cytoadhesion property may be partly responsible for the observed inflammation/endothelial activation observed with severe malaria.

PfEVs released by PfiRBCs contain packaged effector molecules and by extension represents their cells (iRBCs) of origin. Severe malaria is manifested in unique characteristics including cerebral malaria/impaired consciousness, severe anemia and respiratory distress (Cunnington et al., 2013) all of which point to the possibility that parasites may release factors (contained in PfEVs) with varied characteristics hence the different forms of severe malaria. It is at the backdrop of this information that this thesis aimed to establish the effects of PfEVs from a P. falciparum clinical isolate when used to stimulate PBMCs from both 'malaria-naïve' and 'malaria-exposed' individuals.

## **CHAPTER THREE**

## METHODS

#### 3.1 Study design

This was an *in vitro* laboratory-based study that compared the effects of *Plasmodium falciparum* small-sized extracellular vesicles (*Pf*sEVs) and *Plasmodium falciparum* infected red blood cells (*Pf*iRBCs) on host immune cells.

## 3.2 Ethical approval

The ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Kenya Medical Research Institute Scientific and Ethical Review Unit (KEMRI/SERU/CGMRC/022/3149), and written informed consent was obtained from the PBMC sample donors. The study methods were conducted in accordance with the approved guidelines.

#### **3.3 Sourcing of PBMCs**

The PBMCs used in this study were obtained from twenty (20) individuals who were either 'malaria naïve' (eight) or 'malaria exposed' (twelve). 'Malaria naïve' group were consented adults volunteers who lived close to the KWTRP facilities in Kilifi (a region of low malaria transmission) and grew up in non-malaria endemic regions of Kenya and with no history of known clinical malaria episodes in their lifetime. The 'malaria exposed' group were Junju adults from the 2016 annual cross-sectional bleed which is part of a malaria surveillance cohort at KWTRP. Junju is a malaria-endemic region (Bejon et al., 2007) located south of the Kilifi creek in the larger Kilifi Health and Demographic Surveillance System (KHDSS) area at the Kenyan coast (Scott et al., 2012). These number of PBMC donors were arrived at based on availability of resources to conduct the planned experiments.

## 3.4 P. falciparum parasite culture

The *P. falciparum* isolate used in this study was a clinical parasite isolate that been adapted to *in vitro* culture and used in previous studies (Pieper et al., 2017; Tan et al.,

2016). This isolate was known as 9215 based on Kilifi clinical isolate naming system and had been obtained from a child admitted at Kilifi County Hospital with respiratory distress (Marsh et al., 1995). The 9215 isolate has been renamed PfKE12 in unpublished genome data (Otto et al., 2019) and will be referred to as such in this thesis.

*Pf*KE12 was cultured under standard culturing conditions (Trager & Jensen, 1976). The frozen culture vial was taken out of liquid nitrogen and thawed quickly by rubbing between gloved hands. The culture was then transferred into a 50ml falcon tube (Greiner .Bio-One), in sterile conditions, where a series of sodium chloride solutions in reducing concentrations (12%, 1.8%, and 0.9% respectively) were systematically added. The culture was then washed twice with incomplete culture media (Table 3) by centrifugation at 440×g for 5 minutes at room temperature. The thawed culture was resuspended in an appropriate volume of complete *P. falciparum* parasite culture media (90% incomplete media + 10% Albumax-II [Gibco]) ready for transfer into the culture incubator.

 Table 3.1: Plasmodium falciparum parasite culture: Incomplete medium

Ingredients	Volume added (ml)
Hepes (1M) [Gibco]	18.75
L-Glutamine (200mM) [Gibco]	5.0
Gentamicin (10mg/ml) [Gibco]	1.25
D-Glucose (20%) [Gibco]	5.0
Sodium hypoxanthine (8.4mg/ml) [Gibco]	3.0
RPMI 1640 [Sigma]	500

A 200µl aliquot from the resuspended culture in complete culture medium was taken for mycoplasma contamination testing. Another 10µl aliquot was taken to prepare a thin smear on a glass slide, fixed with absolute methanol for 30 seconds and stained with 10% Giemsa (Sigma) solution for 15-20 minutes. This was then observed under a light microscope using the ×100 oil-immersion objective lens to determine the general appearance of the thawed culture. Finally, the culture was gassed (92% Nitrogen, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 3% O<sub>2</sub>; Kenya BOC Limited) and incubated at 37°C.

## 3.4.1 D-Sorbitol synchronization of P. falciparum-infected iRBCs

After the parasite started growing with a predictable growth rate, the parasite culture was tightly synchronized by D-sorbitol (Sigma) treatment as described below.

Five percent (5%) of sorbitol was freshly prepared by dissolving D-sorbitol in deionized water according to required proportions. The solution was then filtersterilized using a 0.20µm filter (FiltoSpur S, Sarstedt). The sorbitol solution was then pre-warmed in a 37°C water bath for 20 minutes prior to use. The parasite culture was transferred into a 50ml falcon tube (Greiner Bio-One) and centrifuged at 440×g for 5 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was then aspirated out and the pellet resuspended in ten volumes of 5% D-sorbitol solution. The mixture in a 50ml falcon tube was transferred into a 37°C water bath and incubated for 20 minutes with intermittent gentle shaking at least thrice during the incubation period. This was then subjected to centrifugation at 440×g 5 minutes at room temperature followed by two washes with 10mls of incomplete parasite culture media per wash at the same centrifugation conditions. The supernatant from the final wash step was aspirated out and the pellet resuspended in an appropriate volume of complete parasite culture media. A 10µl was taken to make a thin smear as previously described to check and ascertain the synchronization process. The culture was then transferred into new T75 culture flasks (BD), gassed for 30-60 seconds, and incubated at 37°C.

## 3.4.2 Processing of culture conditioned media (CCM)

The tightly synchronized culture as described above was bulked up until six flasks, each containing 500µl packed cell volume, at 7% parasitemia were obtained. The cultures were grown in 40 ml of complete parasite culture media (incomplete culture media as shown in Table 3 supplemented with 10% Albumax-II [Gibco] depleted of sEVs by ultracentrifugation at  $150,000 \times g$  for 2 hours). The complete culture media added at an early ring stage was harvested after 24 hours when the parasites were in the trophozoite stage (herein referred to as the rings-to-trophozoite or the RT sample. Fresh culture media was then added at this stage and harvested after another 24 hours of incubation (herein referred to as the trophozoite-to-rings or the TR sample). This

was repeated until three sets of each culture-conditioned media (CCM) type (RT and TR) were obtained (Figure).



Highly synchronised ring stage culture at 7% parasitaemia was continuously monitored and CCM harvested after every 24 hours. Fresh culture media was replenished after every CCM harvesting point while freshly washed O<sup>+ve</sup> RBCs were added at each trophozoite stage. Infected RBCs (iRBCs) were finally harvested via MACS as trophozoites. Mycoplasma testing was conducted throughout the culturing process.

# Figure 3.1: *Plasmodium falciparum* parasite culture media harvesting.

In this study, the CCM from the RT sample was harvested as previously described (Abdi et al., 2017) and shown in Figure The parasite culture was transferred from the T75 culture flasks (BD) into a 50ml falcon tube and centrifuged at  $360 \times g$  for 5 minutes to pellet down RBCs and the supernatant transferred to a new 50ml falcon tube. The supernatant (CCM) was then centrifuged once at  $440 \times g$  for 5 minutes to remove any remaining RBCs and the supernatant transferred into a new 50ml falcon tube. This was followed by centrifugation twice at  $2,000 \times g$  for 10 minutes to remove dead cells and large cellular debris, then once at  $3,600 \times g$  for 10 minutes to remove cellular membranes, hemozoin, and any other debris. The final centrifugation was at  $15,000 \times g$  for 30 minutes to pellet down medium-sized extracellular vesicles (mEVs) or microvesicles (MVs).

The mEVs pellet was then resuspended in 1×phospate buffered saline (PBS) and stored at -80°C until use (this pellet will be referred to as *Pf*mEVs if from *P*. *falciparum* CCM). The resultant supernatant from the final centrifugation at 15,000×g above was filtered through a 0.2µm filter (FiltoSpurS, Sarstedt) and stored at -80°C until use.

During the trophozoite stages, the cultures were appropriately diluted (Figure) with freshly washed, malaria-negative  $O^{+ve}$  red blood cells such that the culture was maintained at 7% parasitemia and at 500µl total pellet volume before being gassed and returned to the 37°C incubator.

## **3.4.3 Isolation of iRBCs**

*Plasmodium falciparum*-infected RBCs (*Pf*iRBCs) were isolated from the *P. falciparum* culture using magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS) columns (Miltenyi Biotec). Tightly synchronized culture at 7% parasitemia was taken through MACS separation columns during the late trophozoite stages. The MACS-purified iRBCs were then washed twice with incomplete culture media (Table 3) and the supernatant aspirated out. Appropriate volume of glycerolyte was added to the pellet and the trophozoite samples stored at -80°C in small aliquots until use. Uninfected RBCs (uRBCs) that were culture media (after CCM harvesting) and stored in appropriate volumes of glycerolyte in -80°C until use.

## 3.5 Culture of uninfected red blood cells

Uninfected red blood cells (uRBCs) were cultured in a similar way to the *Pf*iRBCs. A 500µl of packed cell volume of uninfected red blood cells were incubated with 40ml of complete parasite culture media and the media harvested after 24 hours of culture. The cell pellet was resuspended in 40ml of fresh complete culture media and incubated for another 24 hours. This was repeated three times leading to  $3\times6\times40$ ml of CCM that were processed as detailed in section 0 and then stored at -80°C until use.

After harvesting the final CCM, the uninfected red blood cells were frozen in glycerolyte to use as a control for the *Pf*iRBCs. The same batch of  $O^{+ve}$  red blood cells was used for both *Pf*iRBCs and uRBCs' cultures. Both malaria parasite and uRBCs' cultures were tested for mycoplasma contamination throughout the culturing period as described in section 0 below.

## **3.6 Mycoplasma testing**

Both *Pf*iRBCs and uRBCs cultures were regularly tested for mycoplasma contamination. Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) extraction from the parasite culture aliquots (200µl) was extracted with QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The extracted DNA was then subjected to polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using conditions tabulated in Table and

Table 3.2. Positive controls used were DNA from *Mycoplasma pirum*, *Acholeplasma laidlawii* and DNA from two *P. falciparum* isolates with confirmed mycoplasma contamination.

PCR reagent	×1 reaction (µl)
10× Ammonium buffer	2.5
50mM Magnesium chloride	0.75
40mM dNTPs	0.625
Primers (PCR 1 & PCR 2)	0.56
Taq™ polymerase	0.5
DNA template	1
PCR water	19
Total	25µl

# Table 3.2: Mycoplasma PCR master-mix

Stage	Temperature (°C)	Time
Hold	95°C	5 min
	95°C	30 sec
	58°C	40 sec
35 Cycles	72°C	1 min
Hold	4°C	5 min

Table 3.3: Mycoplasma thermocycling program

#### 3.7 Isolation of PfsEVs from culture-conditioned media

The 0.20µm-filtered CCM supernatant stored at -80°C was thawed at room temperature and transferred under sterile conditions into quick-seal ultracentrifuge tubes (Beckman Coulter cat# 343322). These were then ultracentrifuged using Optima XE-90 ultracentrifuge in a pre-cooled (4°C) 70.1Ti fixed-angle rotor (Beckman Coulter) at 150,000×g for 2 hours at  $4^{\circ}$ C (Figure). This approach is likely to enrich for exosomes, based on their size and the 0.20µm filter cutoff, but because there is no clear way to distinguish between exosomes and microvesicles, the resulting pelletted material is, henceforth, referred to as *Pf*sEVs. The pellet was then washed twice by resuspending in cold  $1 \times PBS$  and ultracentrifuged at  $150,000 \times g$  for 2 hours and 4°C between washes. The final PfsEVs pellet was resuspended in 400µl of 1× PBS and stored in aliquots at -80°C until use (Figure). Bradford<sup>TM</sup> protein assay was used to determine protein concentration in the PfsEVs following the manufacturer's instructions. The isolated PfsEVs were also assessed for mycoplasma contamination. The processed uRBCs' CCM was subjected to a similar isolation process to obtain the equivalent of PfsEVs from uninfected RBCs, i.e., uRBCs\_sEVs. Bradford<sup>™</sup> protein assay was also used to check for the protein concentration in the isolated uRBCs sEVs.



# Figure 3.2: Isolation of EVs from malaria parasite culture media

# **3.8 Processing of PBMCs**

## **3.8.1 PBMC isolation**

Fresh heparinized whole blood (~20-30mls) was obtained from each consented adult donor (both malaria naïve and malaria exposed) for plasma and PBMC isolation. The blood was centrifuged at 440×g for 5 minutes at room temperature to remove plasma that was aspirated and stored at -80°C. The cells were topped-up with a wash buffer, R0 (RPMI 1640 supplemented with L-glutamine and Penicillin/Streptomycin [Gibco]) equivalent to the plasma volume aspirated out. The blood was then layered on Lymphoprep<sup>TM</sup> (Stemcell Technologies) at a Lymphoprep to blood ratio of 1:2 and centrifuged at 440×g for 20 minutes at room temperature. The PBMCs' layer

between the Lymphoprep and media was carefully aspirated out into a 50ml falcon tube and washed twice in R0 by centrifuging at  $440 \times g$  for 5 minutes and  $4^{\circ}C$ .

The isolated PBMCs were then resuspended in 1ml of complete culture media, R10 (Table). The cell count and viability were determined using a Vi-CELL XR 2.03 counter (Beckman Coulter, USA) and/or hemocytometer chamber. After the counting, the PBMCs were then either used fresh in the stimulation assay or resuspended in a cold freezing media (10% dimethyl sulfoxide [DMSO] in fetal calf serum [FSC]; all from Gibco) at a final concentration of  $1 \times 10^6$  PBMCs/ml. The PBMCs were then transferred into Nunc cryovials (Thermo Scientific) and stored overnight at -80°C in Mr. Frosty cryocontainers (Thermo Scientific) before being transferred to liquid nitrogen until use in *in vitro* assays.

<b>Table 3.4:</b>	Complete	<b>PBMCs</b>	culture	medium	(R10)
-------------------	----------	--------------	---------	--------	-------

Ingredients	Volume added (ml)
L-Glutamine (200mM)	5.0
RPMI 1640	450
Penicillin-Streptomycin (100×)	5.0
FCS [heat-inactivated]	50

## **3.8.2 Thawing of cryopreserved PBMCs**

Cryopreserved vials of PBMCs were taken out of liquid nitrogen and quickly thawed by immersing the vials in a 37°C water bath. Partially thawed PBMCs were then transferred into 50ml falcon tubes containing pre-warmed complete (R10) PBMCs culture media (Table). The cells were then washed twice with R10 at 360×g for 5 minutes at room temperature. The PBMCs were then resuspended in 1ml of R10 media and rested for 1 hour before being used in the assay. An aliquot was taken for cell counting (using Vi-CELL XR 2.03 counter (Beckman Coulter, USA) and/or hemocytometer) to determine the viability and the number of cells present per milliliter to be used. The PBMCs were finally resuspended in appropriate volume of R10 to a final volume of  $1 \times 10^6$  PBMCs per experimental condition.

#### 3.9 PBMC assays

## 3.9.1 PBMCs stimulation and measuring of cell surface activation markers

A  $1 \times 10^6$  PBMCs per stimulation condition were co-cultured with *PfiRBCs* or PfsEVs in 96-well U-bottomed cell culture plates (Greiner Bio-One). The stimulation conditions included: PfsEVs added at a determined concentration of 20µg/ml based on consideration from a previous experiment by Mantel (Mantel et al., 2013), and  $1 \times 10^{6}$  MACS-purified iRBCs (*PfiRBCs*). The positive controls were *Staphylococcal* enterotoxin B (SEB) at 2.5µg/ml as a polyclonal activator and CpG-ODN (2.5µg/ml). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) at 200ng/ml was included as an additional positive control for a subset of experiments that involved PBMCs from 12 donors. Co-culture wells with PBMCs plus cell growth medium only and PBMCs plus  $1 \times 10^6$ uRBCs were included in each experiment as negative controls. These uRBCs were of the same batch as that used to culture the parasites. The PBMCs were co-incubated with the stimulants for 18 hours in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Following the 18 hours' stimulation, the cells and culture supernatants were harvested. The supernatants were stored at -20°C for cytokine analysis via Luminex assay and/or enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) while the cells were prepared for flow cytometry (Figure).



# Figure 3.3: The stimulation experimental setup

In the flow cytometry analysis, a 200µl of RBC lysis buffer (BD<sup>TM</sup> FACS<sup>TM</sup> lysing solution) was first added to the iRBCs and uRBCs culture condition/wells and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. This step was key to avoid interference of RBCs during acquiring of cytometry events. This was followed by addition of 200µl of fraction of crystallization receptor (FcR) blocking reagent (Miltenyi Biotec) to avoid non-specific antibody binding to all the samples and incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C in the dark.

This incubation step was followed by two cell washes in cold fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) buffer (1×PBS + 5% FCS + 0.01% Sodium azide) by centrifuging at 440×g for 5 minutes. The cells were then stained for 30 minutes at 4°C with 30µl of fluorescently-labelled antibody cocktail containing: Phycoerythrin (PE)-Cyanine (Cy) 5-conjugated anti-human CD3 [BioLegend, Cat#: 300410, Clone: UCHT1]/Brilliant Violet (BV)-785 anti-human CD3 [BioLegend, Cat#: 317330, Clone: OKT3], PE-Cy7-conjugated anti-human CD4 [BioLegend, Cat#: 317414, Clone: OKT4], PE-CF594 Mouse anti-human CD8, [BD Biosciences, Cat#: 562282

Clone: RPA-T8]/Alexa Fluor 700-conjugated anti-human CD8a [BioLegend, Cat#: 301028 Clone: RPA-T8, 0.5mg/ml], Pacific Blue-conjugated anti-human CD19 [BioLegend, Cat#: 982404, Clone: HIB19, 200µg/ml]/PE-Cy5 anti-human CD19 [BioLegend Cat#: 302210, Clone: HIB19], BV650-conjugated anti-human CD14 [BioLegend, Cat#: 301836, Clone: M5E2], Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated anti-human CD69 [BioLegend, Cat#: 310916, Clone: FN50], BV711-conjugated anti-human CD25 [BioLegend, Cat#: 302636, Clone: BC96], and Fixable Viability Dye eFluor® 780, [eBioscience, Cat#: 65-0865-18]. All antibodies were used at a 1:200 dilutions apart from BV711 anti-human CD25 that was used at a 1:100 dilutions. (Those antibodies without indicated concentrations have either lot-specific concentrations or pre-diluted for use at recommended volume per test).

The staining step was followed by two washes with FACS buffer (by centrifuging at  $440 \times g$  for 5 minutes) before being re-suspended in  $300\mu$ l of FACS-flow buffer (BD Biosciences). Cells were acquired on the LSRFortessa<sup>TM</sup> cell analyzer (BD Biosciences). At least 100,000 events were acquired per stimulation condition and at least 170,000 events for the *Pf*iRBCs and uRBCs conditions since these had an extra cell lysis step prior to staining. Data were analyzed using FlowJo® software version 10.0 (Tree Star).

## 3.9.2 PBMCs' proliferation assay – CFSE staining

Thawed PBMCs (as outlined in section 0 above) were first rested for an hour in R10 media before being labelled with Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CSFE) [BioLegend] staining medium. Labelling entailed resuspension of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells per culture condition in an appropriate volume of warm (pre-warmed in a water bath at 37°C) CSFE staining medium (1×PBS supplemented with 0.1% bovine serum albumin [BSA]) at a final CFSE concentration of 1.25µM, following the protocol by Quah (Quah et al., 2007). These cells in the CFSE staining media were incubated for 10 minutes at 37°C before being quenched with a five-times volume of ice-cold complete R10 followed by a further 5 minutes' incubation in ice. The cells were then washed twice (centrifugation at 440×g for 5 minutes) with R10 and resuspended in appropriate volume of the complete culture medium, R10.

The CFSE-labelled PBMCs were subsequently incubated in 96-well U-shaped culture plates (Greiner Bio-One) at a density of  $1 \times 10^6$  PBMCs per culture condition. The culture conditions were *Pfs*EVs (20µg/ml, as used in section 0),  $1 \times 10^6$  MACS-purified iRBCs (*Pf*iRBCs), CpG-ODN (2.5µg/ml), and SEB (2.5µg/ml) as a positive control. Co-culture wells with (PBMCs + cell culture medium only) and (PBMCs +  $1 \times 10^6$  uRBCs) were included in each experiment as negative controls. These uRBCs were of the same batch as that used to culture the parasites. The stimulated CFSE-stained PBMCs were cultured for 5 days in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> (Figure ).

After 5 days of co-culture, an aliquot from each culture condition was taken and mixed with trypan blue dye (Sigma) to assess the cells' viability under a light microscope. The cells were then washed once (centrifugation at 440×g for 5 minutes) in FACS buffer before being stained with 30µl of an antibody cocktail containing: PE-Cy5-conjugated anti-CD3, PE-Cy7-conjugated anti-CD4, PE-Texas Red-conjugated anti-CD8, Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) anti-CFSE, and Fixable Viability Dye eFluor® 780 to gate on the live cells only. The stained cells were then incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C. After incubation, the cells were afterwards washed twice with FACS buffer and resuspended in 300 µl of FACS flow (BD Biosciences). At least 100,000 events/culture condition were acquired (~170,000 for uRBCs and iRBCs conditions) using the BD LSRFortessa<sup>TM</sup> cell analyzer and DIVA software (BD Biosciences, USA). Data were analyzed using FlowJo® software version 10.0 (Tree Star).



# Figure 3.4: The proliferation experimental setup.

# **3.10** The gating strategies

## 3.10.1 The PBMC stimulation data

FlowJo software version 10.0 (Tree Star) was used to analyze the FCS files obtained from the DIVA software in the LSRFortessa<sup>™</sup> flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). A gating strategy was applied to locate the cells of interest (Figure). Dead cells were first removed using the Fixable Viability Dye followed by gating on live single cells (singlets). From the lymphocytes gate, B and T cells were gated based on the expression of CD19 and CD3, respectively. The T-cell subsets (CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup>) were then gated from the CD3<sup>+</sup> gate. The monocyte gate was confirmed based on CD14 expression. The expression of the activation markers CD25 and CD69 was then determined in the T, B, and monocyte cells (Figure).



# Figure 3.5: The stimulation assay gating strategy

# 3.10.2 The PBMC proliferation data

The proliferation assay gating strategy was like that of the stimulation assay. Dead cells were first removed using the Fixable Viability Dye followed by gating on live single cells (singlets). CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells gated in from the singlets were then gated to both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell subsets. The proliferation of each subset was then measured by gating on the reducing CSFE intensity that occurs after every cell cycle (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6: The proliferation assay gating strategy

## 3.11 ELISA & Luminex assays to characterize stimulation cytokine profiles

Cell free culture supernatants from the stimulation assays were aspirated and stored at -20<sup>o</sup>C prior to cytokine analysis. Supernants used for this assay were all from the subset of experiments where LPS was included as an additional positive control condition. Supernants were thawed on ice and used to quantify a total of 29 analytes; IFN- $\alpha$ 2, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-1ra, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-10, IL-13, IL-15, IL-17A, TNF- $\alpha$ , TNF- $\beta$ , GM-CSF, G-CSF, IL-12 (p40), IL-12 (p70), IL-8, EGF, IP-10 (CXCL10), MCP-1 (CCL2), MIP-1 $\alpha$  (CCL3), MIP-1 $\beta$  (CCL4), VEGF, and Eotaxin (CCL11). Analytes were measured using the MILLIPLEX Human Cytokine/Chemokine Magnetic bead 29-Plex assay (catalogue #HCYTMAG-60K-PX29) from Merck-Millipore following the manufacturer's instructions. A 25 $\mu$ 1 of the culture supernatant was diluted 1:5 times in assay medium and incubated with 25 $\mu$ 1 of anti-cytokine antibody-coupled magnetic beads for 2 hours at room temperature while shaking at 500 rpm in the dark. The beads were then washed twice and incubated with 25 $\mu$ 1 of biotinylated detector antibody for 1 hour at room temperature, before addition of streptavidin R-phycoerythrin and further incubation

for 30 minutes (between each washing step, the beads were retained in the plate using a magnetic separator). After a final wash, beads were re-suspended in 150 $\mu$ L of LUMINEX Drive Fluid, and 100 beads counted for each cytokine in a MAGPIX reader running on MAGPIX xPOTENT 4.2 software (Luminex Corporation). Analyte concentrations were calculated (via Milliplex Analyst v5.1 [VigeneTech]) from the mean fluorescence intensity expressed in pg/mL using standard curves with known concentrations of each analyte.

In addition to the 29 analytes measured using the Luminex platform, TGF- $\beta$  levels were measured using an ELISA kit (ThermoFisher; cat# BMS249-4) following the manufacturer's protocol. A 100µl of both samples and standards were added into an anti-human TGF $\beta$ -precoated plate and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature (RT) with shaking. The plate was washed five times with provided wash buffer using ELx405 Select (BioTek instruments) ELISA washer. A 100µl of biotin-conjugate was then added to all the wells and incubated for 1 hour at RT with shaking. This was followed by five washes, addition of 100µl Streptavidin-HRP (Horse radish peroxidase), and incubation for 1 hour at RT with shaking. The plate was washed five times as in the preceding steps followed by addition of 100µl TMB (tetramethylbenzidine) substrate solution and incubated for 30 minutes at RT. The reaction was stopped by adding 100µl of stop solution (1M phosphoric acid). The plate was read at 450nm using Synergy 4 (BioTek Instruments) ELISA plate reader, and optical densities (OD) of each sample recorded.

## 3.12 Anti-schizont antibody ELISA

To determine the levels of plasma IgG responses to crude schizont extract of the PBMC donors, an anti-schizont antibody ELISA was performed. Frozen plasma samples from the PBMC donors were thawed and used in an anti-schizont ELISA to determine prior exposure to malaria. ELISA plates were coated with 100µl of 1: 6000 diluted crude schizont extract/lysate and incubated overnight at 4°C. The plates were then aspirated and blocked with 1% skimmed milk and incubated for 5 hours at room temperature with five washes between each step (wash buffer:  $1 \times PBS + 0.05\%$  Tween-20). This was followed by addition of 100µl of the 1:1000 diluted plasma

samples and an overnight incubation. On the following day, the plates were washed four times and then incubated with 100  $\mu$ l of HRP-conjugated Rabbit anti-human IgG (Thermo Scientific) for 3 hours at room temperature. The washed plates were finally incubated with 100 $\mu$ l of the o-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (OPD) substrate for 15 minutes. The reaction was stopped with 25 $\mu$ l of 2M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and the plates read at 492nm on a Synergy 4 (Bio Tek) plate reader, recording the samples' optical densities (OD).

#### 3.13 Data analysis

The flow cytometry data was collated using FlowJo® Software (Tree Star) v.10.6.2. The resultant collated flow cytometry data and ELISA data were then analysed using Prism 6.01 (GraphPad). Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare continuous variables between two conditions. The Chemokine/Cytokine dataset was normalized using Yeo Johnson transformation and t-test was used to compare between two conditions. The unstimulated PBMC culture medium (media) was used as the background negative control condition for both *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs. For *Pf*iRBCs, relative comparison to uRBCs condition was also shown. To assess the impact of prior malaria exposure on PBMC response to *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs stimulation, the anti-schizont IgG response in the contemporaneous plasma sample of each PBMC sample was related to the induced expression of the activation markers on CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup>, CD19<sup>+</sup>, CD14<sup>+</sup>cells following stimulation with either *Pf*sEVs or *Pf*iRBCs. Due to small sample size (N=8), the same test was not done for the cytokine/chemokine data. For all tests, *P* values were considered significant if <0.05.

## **CHAPTER FOUR**

## RESULTS

# 4.1 Comparison of the quantities of small-sized extracellular vesicles (sEVs) released by infected RBCs and uninfected RBCs

The mEVs and sEVs were isolated from culture conditioned media (CCM) of *Pf*iRBCs from a laboratory-adapted clinical isolate (*Pf*KE12) and uRBCs as shown in **Error! Reference source not found.**a. Previous research has demonstrated successful isolation of sEVs from *Pf*iRBCs CCM by Transmission Electron Microscope (TEM) (Abdi et al., 2017) using the protocol described in methods section. In this study, the protein concentrations of the isolated mEVs and sEVs were used as proxies for EV abundance (Théry et al., 2018). As shown in **Error! Reference source not found.**a, the mean protein concentration of mEVs from *Pf*iRBCs CCM (*Pf*KE12\_mEVs) was ~4.9 fold higher than that of uRBCs (uRBCs\_mEVs) (p =0.033), as would be expected when parasite proteins are packaged in the mEVs.

The mean protein concentration of the sEVs fraction from fresh or aged uRBCs CCM was negligible (**Error! Reference source not found.**a) (p =ns), consistent with previous reports that show mature RBCs primarily release mEVs (microvesicles) but not sEVs (exosomes) (Kuo et al., 2017).

## 4.2 Test for parasite culture and vesicles contamination

During the parasite culturing, mycoplasma contamination was routinely monitored via PCR method. The cultures remained negative for mycoplasma contamination throughout the culturing period (**Error! Reference source not found.**b; test samples 7-15). To rule out the possibility of low-level Mycoplasma contamination not detectable by PCR analysis in parasite culture samples but might be enriched in the isolated *Pf*sEVs-DNA was extracted from the isolated *Pf*sEVs and PCR analysis performed to detect mycoplasma contamination, which was negative as shown in figure 4.1 (test samples 1-6).



## Figure 4.1: EVs protein concentrations and mycoplasma results

## 4.2 Effects of PfiRBCs and PfsEVs on T cells, B cells and monocytes

*Pf*sEVs induced significantly higher expression of CD25 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells and CD14<sup>+</sup> compared to the background media condition [p =0.0467, =0.0369, and =0.0048, respectively] (Figure A-C). In contrast, the effect of *Pf*iRBCs was apparent only on the antigen presenting cells, CD19<sup>+</sup> B-cells [p =0.0042] and CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes [p =0.0155] (Figure B&C) with a significantly higher CD25 expression relative to the background media condition or to uRBCs [p =0.0304].

Both *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs induced a higher expression of CD69 on CD4<sup>+</sup> [p =0.005 and p <0.0001 respectively), CD8<sup>+</sup> [p =0.0424 and p =0.0013, respectively] and CD19<sup>+</sup> [p =0.0437 and p <0.0001, respectively] relative to the background condition (Figure D-F). Additionally, *Pf*iRBCs induced significant CD69 expression on CD14<sup>+</sup> cells (Figure G) relative to the uRBCs [p =0.0345]. Notably, *Pf*iRBCs induced a higher CD69 expression on CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD19<sup>+</sup> cells relative to that induced by *Pf*sEVs (Figure 4.2).



## Figure 4.2: Expression of CD25 and CD69 under different stimulation conditions

## 4.3 Impact of PfsEVs and PfiRBCs on T cell proliferation

The second objective of the current study was to assess if *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs had any impact on the proliferation of T cells. From the results, *Pf*sEVs induced significantly more T cells proliferation above the background (media/unstimulated) (Figure A&B) as well as above the iRBCs, though not statistically significant for the iRBCs. On the other hand, the iRBCs induced a significantly higher proliferation in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to the background (Figure A) but not in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure B). However, this observation was lost when proliferation was analysed depending on the median fluorescent intensity (MDFI) (Figure C&D) rather than the percentage number of cells that proliferated (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: T cell proliferation

# 4.4 The cytokine and chemokine profile of PBMC stimulated by PfsEVs and PfiRBCs

The third objective of the study intended to determine the cytokine profile of the stimulated PBMC. For (eight) 8 out of the twenty (20) PBMC samples, the levels of 29 different cytokines/chemokines in the culture supernatant induced by each of the stimulants were measured using Luminex. TGF- $\beta$  was additionally measured by ELISA. IL-3, IL-4, and IL-5 levels were below the limit of detection with both *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs (Figure). The levels of 16 cytokines/chemokines induced by *Pf*sEVs and by *Pf*iRBCs were not significantly greater than the levels seen in the negative controls using two-sided t-test. However, on one-sided t-test, IL-15 and G-CSF induced by both *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs were significantly higher relative to the background conditions (Figure).

Of the remaining 11 cytokines/chemokines, significant induction relative to the negative control background was observed with; a) both *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs for MIP1 $\alpha$ , MIP1 $\beta$ , GM-CSF, IL-6, IL-8, and TNF $\alpha$  (Figure A-F), b) *Pf*sEVs only for MCP1, IL-10 and IL-17 $\alpha$  (Figure G-I) and c) *Pf*iRBCs only for IFN $\gamma$  and IP-10 (Figure J-L). Notably, the levels of IFN $\gamma$  and IP-10 induced by *Pf*iRBCs were significantly higher than the levels induced by *Pf*sEVs (Figure J-K) while the concentration of IL-17 $\alpha$  induced by *Pf*sEVs tended to be higher than that induced by *Pf*iRBCs (p=0.07, Figure I). Interestingly, in contrast to most cytokines/chemokines, the level of MCP-1 induced by both *Pf*iRBCs and *Pf*sEVs was uniquely higher than that induced by LPS (Figure G). Additionally, the level of IP-10 induced by *Pf*iRBCs was also significantly higher than that induced by LPS (Figure G).



Figure 4.4: Significantly induced cytokines/chemokines



Figure 4.5: Cytokines/chemokines with insignificant levels of induction

#### 4.5 Previous exposure to malaria in responses to PfsEVs stimulation

Given that malaria exposure has been shown to induce immunological tolerance (Bediako et al., 2016; Illingworth et al., 2013; Langhorne et al., 2008), a correlation of the cell surface activation data to each donor's IgG response to crude schizont extract was done using Spearman's rank correlation. As shown in Figure, CD25 expression on CD14<sup>+</sup> cells (CD14<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>) following stimulation of the PBMC samples with *Pf*sEVs or *Pf*iRBCs decreased with the level of pre-existing antischizont IgG in the plasma of each PBMC donor and this association reached significance for *Pf*sEVs (rho=-0.51, p=0.02, N=20). Furthermore, anti-schizont IgG level explained 19% of the variation in CD25 expression on CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes when anti-schizont was used as an explanatory variable in a linear regression model predicting CD14<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> (coeff(95%CI) =-0.28(-0.52, -0.03), p=0.03, adjusted  $R^2$ =19%, N=20). This result suggest malaria exposure tolerizes the host innate immune response to *Pf*sEVs. The cytokine/chemokine data was not subjected to the same analysis due to small sample size (N=8).

CD4+CD25+-	0.18 (0.4)	-0.21 (0.4)	
CD19+CD25+-	0.025 (0.9)	-0.18 (0.4)	
CD14+CD25+ <sup>-</sup>	-0.38 (0.1)	-0.51 (0.02)	rho 1.0
CD4+CD69+-	0.19 (0.4)	0.059 (0.8)	0.0
CD8+CD69+-	0.36 (0.1)	0.24 (0.3)	-0.5
CD19+CD69+-	-0.31 (0.2)	-0.18 (0.4)	
CD14+CD69+-	-0.0015 (1)	0.07 (0.8)	
L	<i>Pf</i> iRBCs	<i>Pf</i> sEVs	1

The correlations between anti-schizont IgG response in the plasma of each PBMC donor and the expression of the activation markers (CD25 and CD69) on CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells and CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes, following co-culture of each donor's PBMC sample with *Pf*iRBCs or *Pf*sEVs was determined using Spearman's rank correlation. Shown is the rho and p-value (in bracket). Increasing colour intensity indicate stronger association.

# Figure 4.6: The impact of prior malaria exposure on PBMC response to *Pf*iRBCs and *Pf*sEVs

## **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### DISCUSSION

## **5.1 Discussion**

This study sought to investigate 1) whether *Pf*sEVs can induce PBMC activation *in vitro*; specifically, by measuring cell surface activation markers and cytokines/chemokines secreted into the culture media following co-culture with PBMC, 2) how the PBMC activation induced by *Pf*sEVs compares with that of *Pf*iRBCs and 3) if secreted *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs induce proliferation on T cells and in addition 4) whether prior exposure to malaria among the PBMC donors influences the level of the induced PBMC activation markers.

Results indicate that both *Pfs*EVs and *Pf*iRBCs induced T-cells, B-cells, and monocytes to express at least one of the surface activation markers examined relative to the negative control condition. *Pfs*EVs showed relatively stronger induction of CD25 expression while *Pf*iRBCs preferentially induced CD69 expression, particularly on B-cells. In proliferation, the *Pfs*EVs had more impact compared to the infected iRBCs in both T cell subsets while the *Pf*iRBCs were noted to only impact proliferation in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells relative to the background. This relationship, however, changed if we considered the proliferation signal rather than the number of proliferating cells. More experiments are needed to make conclusive remarks regarding *Pfs*EVs considering it has previously been reported that continued exposure to malaria infection negatively impacts (lowers) T cell proliferation (Bediako et al., 2016) in experiments involving infected erythrocytes. This current study could not make substantive measurements with *Pfs*EVs or measure any proliferative cytokines.

At the cytokine/chemokine level, both *Pfs*EVs and *Pf*iRBCs induced secretion of several cytokines/chemokines but they also showed differential ability to induce
secretion of some cytokines. Notably, *Pf*sEVs induced secretion of higher levels of IL-17 $\alpha$  relative to the background media and tended to be higher than that induced by *Pf*iRBCs. IL-17 $\alpha$  is known to be secreted by Th17 CD4+ T cells and the cytokines, IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$  have been shown to be able to induce differentiation of naïve CD4 T-cells into Th17 cells *in vitro* (Bettelli et al., 2006). Interestingly, *Pf*sEVs also induced significantly higher levels of IL-6 but not TGF- $\beta$ . On the other hand, *Pf*iRBCs showed superior ability to induce secretion of IFN $\gamma$  and IP-10 relative to the background uRBCs and even to *Pf*sEVs condition when co-cultured with PBMC. IP-10 secretion is driven by a pro-inflammatory cytokine milieu including IFN- $\gamma$  (Luster & Ravetch, 1987); thus, it is plausible that high levels of IFN $\gamma$  led to the IP-10 secretion that we identified in response to *Pf*iRBCs stimulation.

This, therefore, maybe interpreted that *Pf*sEVs and *Pf*iRBCs can induce differentiation of CD4+ T cells into Th17 and Th1 cells, respectively. In a recent study (Ye et al., 2018), *Pf*iRBCs were shown to induce NK cells to secrete IFN $\gamma$  while *Pf*mEVs could not, which is consistent with the observation made in this study with *Pf*sEVs & *Pf*iRBCs co-culture with PBMC. This finding warrants further characterization of the T cell subsets activated by *Pf*sEVs including  $\gamma \delta$  T-cells known to be activated by phosphoantigens in *P. falciparum* culture medium (Guenot et al., 2015).

*Pf*iRBCs were observed to induce significantly higher MCP-1(CCL2) and IP-10 (CXCL10) compared to LPS when co-cultured with PBMC. This result is consistent with observation previously made with co-culturing of *Pf*iRBCs with purified dendritic cells (Götz et al., 2017). However, in the previous study (Götz et al., 2017), co-culture of *Pf*iRBCs with purified dendritic cells could not induce secretion of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  (Götz et al., 2017). This difference might be explained by the presence of cells such as T cells in PBMC, which could be the source of the TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ .

Previously, persistent exposure to malaria infection has been shown to tolerizes T and B cell response to malaria antigens (Bediako et al., 2016; Illingworth et al., 2013). This study showed, albeit with small sample size, that the degree of previous malaria exposure (determined by the level of IgG response to crude schizont extract in the plasma of each PBMC donor) was negatively associated with monocyte's response to *Pf*sEVs. *Pf*sEV interaction with monocytes *in vitro*, have been shown to induce inflammatory response (Mantel et al., 2016) potentially contributing to malaria pathogenesis. Therefore, tolerance to *Pf*sEVs following frequent malaria infection may be part of the naturally acquired anti-disease immunity (Langhorne et al., 2008).

The results showed that uninfected red blood cells (uRBCs) do not produce sEVs (exosomes) containing quantifiable amount of proteins using Bradford assay. During the isolations, culture conditioned media (CCM) used varied from uRBCs ranging from fresh (processed for culture within 1 hour after phlebotomy) to 2 weeks old cultures. By contrast, the mEVs fraction from uRBC CCM repeatedly contained quantifiable amount of proteins. This might indicate that uRBCs release sEVs but with very low levels of packaged proteins but could alternatively mean that uRBCs primarily release mEVs (microvesicles). The latter interpretation is consistent with previous studies that showed developing red blood cells release sEVs during earlier stage of hematopoiesis, but mature RBCs do not (Kuo et al., 2017), as they have lost the endocytic pathway that is essential for the biogenesis of sEVs. Other studies have described exosomes from uRBCs (Sisquella et al., 2017) but this discrepancy might be explained by a difference in methodology as the study protocol involves a filtration step at 0.2µm that excludes the majority of mEVs from the sEVs fraction, a step that was omitted from the earlier reported work.

## **CHAPTER SIX**

## CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

## 6.1 Conclusions

This study set out to find the role(s) that secreted vesicles from *Pf*iRBCs played in the host immune system. The study employed in vitro methods to culture the malaria parasite, harvest the CCM, isolate small EVs from the CCM and test their effects via co-culture with PBMC from varied donors. Results indicate that isolated *Pf*sEVs as well as *Pf*iRBCs had varied abilities to induce activation markers on different subsets of PBMCs, proliferate and induce secretion of varied cytokines.

The study also hinted that prior exposure to malaria affects the ability of *Pf*sEVs to activate monocytes, suggesting a role of the EVs in immune tolerance. These results, however, do not conclusively and exhaustively explain severe malaria disease. Though that, they are a pointer to the potential role that malaria parasite secretomes (for example, *Pf*sEVs in this study) have in driving this phenomenon. Consequently, to unravel the happenings behind severe malaria, more experiments with varied PBMC donors are required.

Altogether, this study is a pointer that PfsEVs have the potential to give more information, not only in cellular assays but also in proteomics and transcriptomics analyses. This is a study of its kind as it successfully used a clinical isolate parasite adapted to lab culture with <70 culture cycles, hence, a closer reference to a human *P. falciparum* malaria parasite that the more widely used 3D7 reference isolate.

## **6.2 Recommendations**

This study showed the ability of *Pf*sEVs from a malaria clinical isolate adapted to lab culture to induce varied outcome on PBMCs. Though that, additional work is needed to complement the results reported in this thesis.

- While PBMC from multiple donors were used to generate these results, this study used only one *P. falciparum* isolate and, therefore, cannot conclusively determine if the results obtained will remain similar if the number of isolates was increased for diversity. Therefore, there is need for more work with an increased number of parasite isolates including a lab isolate such as 3D7 as a control.
- Apart from conducting a similar experiment with an increased number of parasite isolates, varied isolates need also to be included in the expanded study. This is because different parasites have been shown to display a difference in virulence with studies demonstrating that this virulence can be transferred to non-virulent parasite phenotypes via secreted EVs. It would therefore be interesting to see if the phenomena observed will be consistent across isolates of *P. falciparum* with different levels of virulence, and whether any differences can be correlated with differences in protein or RNA content within the sEVs.
- This study also recommends an increase in the number of study participants to increase the study power while drawing conclusions from the stimulation, proliferation, and cytokine assays.
- Finally, more functional, proteomic, and transcriptomic analysis of *Pf*sEVs is clearly needed to fully understand them and ultimately apply the knowledge in malaria vaccine design.

## REFERENCES

- Abdi, A., Fegan, G., Muthui, M., Kiragu, E., Musyoki, J. N., Opiyo, M., ... & Bull,
   P. C. (2014). *Plasmodium falciparum* antigenic variation: relationships between widespread endothelial activation, parasite PfEMP1 expression and severe malaria. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 14, 170.
- Abdi, A., Yu, L., Goulding, D., Rono, M. K., Bejon, P., Choudhary, J., & Rayner, J. (2017). Proteomic analysis of extracellular vesicles from a *Plasmodium falciparum* Kenyan clinical isolate defines a core parasite secretome. Wellcome Open Research, 2.
- Abels, E. R., & Breakefield, X. O. (2016). Introduction to Extracellular Vesicles: Biogenesis, RNA Cargo Selection, Content, Release, and Uptake. *Cellular and molecular neurobiology* 36(3), 301–312).
- Ashida, H., Mimuro, H., Ogawa, M., Kobayashi, T., Sanada, T., Kim, M., & Sasakawa, C. (2011). Cell death and infection: a double-edged sword for host and pathogen survival. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 195(6), 931– 942.
- Bediako, Y., Ngoi, J. M., Nyangweso, G., Wambua, J., Opiyo, M., Nduati, E. W., ... & Ndungu, F. M. (2016). The effect of declining exposure on T cellmediated immunity to Plasmodium falciparum - an epidemiological "natural experiment". *BMC Medicine*, 14(1), 143.
- Bejon, P., Berkley, J. A., Mwangi, T., Ogada, E., Mwangi, I., Maitland, K., ... & Marsh, K. (2007). Defining childhood severe falciparum malaria for intervention studies. *PLoS Medicine*, 4(8), e251.
- Bettelli, E., Carrier, Y., Gao, W., Korn, T., Strom, T. B., Oukka, M., ... & Kuchroo, V. K. (2006). Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of

pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature*, 441(7090), 235–238.

- Bouwens, E. A. M., Stavenuiter, F., & Mosnier, L. O. (2013). Mechanisms of anticoagulant and cytoprotective actions of the protein C pathway. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis : JTH*, 11 Suppl 1(01), 242–253.
- Buck, A. H., Coakley, G., Simbari, F., McSorley, H. J., Quintana, J. F., Le Bihan, T.,
  ... & Maizels, R. M. (2014). Exosomes secreted by nematode parasites transfer small RNAs to mammalian cells and modulate innate immunity. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 5488.
- Buzas, E. I., Manc, M., Llorente, A., Lo, J., Revento, J., Portillo, H. A., & Schallmoser, K. (2015). *Biological properties of extracellular vesicles* and their physiological functions. 1, 1–60.
- Caby, M.-P., Lankar, D., Vincendeau-Scherrer, C., Raposo, G., & Bonnerot, C. (2005). Exosomal-like vesicles are present in human blood plasma. *International Immunology*, 17(7), 879–887
- Campos, F. M., Franklin, B. S., Teixeira-Carvalho, A., Filho, A. L., De Paula, S. C., Fontes, C. J., ... & Carvalho, L. H. (2010). Augmented plasma microparticles during acute Plasmodium vivax infection. *Malaria Journal*, 9(1), 1–8.
- Chaiyadet, S., Sotillo, J., Smout, M., Cantacessi, C., Jones, M. K., Johnson, M. S., ...
  & Loukas, A. (2015). Carcinogenic Liver Fluke Secretes Extracellular
  Vesicles That Promote Cholangiocytes to Adopt a Tumorigenic
  Phenotype. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 212(10), 1636–1645.
- Chaput, N., & Théry, C. (2011). Exosomes: immune properties and potential clinical implementations. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, *33*(5), 419–440.

Christianson, H. C., Svensson, K. J., van Kuppevelt, T. H., Li, J.-P., & Belting, M.

(2013). Cancer cell exosomes depend on cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans for their internalization and functional activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(43), 17380–17385.

- Cocucci, E., & Meldolesi, J. (2015). Ectosomes and exosomes: shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 25(6), 364–372.
- COHEN, S., McGregor, I. A., & Carrington, S. (1961). Gamma-globulin and acquired immunity to human malaria. *Nature*, *192*, 733–737.
- Colombo, M., Raposo, G., & Théry, C. (2014). Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, 30, 255–289.
- Costa-Silva, B., Aiello, N. M., Ocean, A. J., Singh, S., Zhang, H., Thakur, B. K., ... & Lyden, D. (2015). Pancreatic cancer exosomes initiate pre-metastatic niche formation in the liver. *Nature Cell Biology*, *17*(6), 816–826.
- Craig, A. G., Grau, G. E., Janse, C., Kazura, J. W., Milner, D., Barnwell, J. W., ... & Langhorne, J. (2012). The role of animal models for research on severe malaria. *PLoS Pathogens*, 8(2), e1002401.
- Cunnington, A. J., Walther, M., & Riley, E. M. (2013). Piecing together the puzzle of severe malaria. *Science Translational Medicine*, 5(211), 211ps18.
- Das, R., Koo, M.-S., Kim, B. H., Jacob, S. T., Subbian, S., Yao, J., ... & Bucala, R. (2013). Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is a critical mediator of the innate immune response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(32), E2997-3006
- Day, C. L., Kaufmann, D. E., Kiepiela, P., Brown, J. A., Moodley, E. S., Reddy, S.,

... & Walker, B. D. (2006). PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature*, 443(7109), 350–354

- Deaglio, S., Dwyer, K. M., Gao, W., Friedman, D., Usheva, A., Erat, A., ... & Robson, S. C. (2007). Adenosine generation catalyzed by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 204(6), 1257–1265.
- Demarta-Gatsi, C., Rivkin, A., Di Bartolo, V., Peronet, R., Ding, S., Commere, P.-H., ... & Mécheri, S. (2019). Histamine releasing factor and elongation factor 1 alpha secreted via malaria parasites extracellular vesicles promote immune evasion by inhibiting specific T cell responses. *Cellular Microbiology*, 21(7), e13021
- Dondorp, A. M., Desakorn, V., Pongtavornpinyo, W., Sahassananda, D., Silamut, K., Chotivanich, K., ... & Day, N. P. J. (2005). Estimation of the Total Parasite Biomass in Acute Falciparum Malaria from Plasma PfHRP2. *PLoS Medicine*, 2(8), e204
- El-Assaad, F., Wheway, J., Hunt, N. H., Grau, G. E. R., & Combes, V. (2014). Production, fate and pathogenicity of plasma microparticles in murine cerebral malaria. *PLoS Pathogens*, 10(3), e1003839.
- Ferreira, A., Schofield, L., Enea, V., Schellekens, H., van der Meide, P., Collins, W., ... & Nussenzweig, V. (1986). Inhibition of development of exoerythrocytic forms of malaria parasites by gamma-interferon. *Science*, 232(4752), 881–884
- Filipazzi, P., Bürdek, M., Villa, A., Rivoltini, L., & Huber, V. (2012). Recent advances on the role of tumor exosomes in immunosuppression and disease progression. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 22(4), 342–349.

Garcia-Silva, M. R., Cabrera-Cabrera, F., das Neves, R. F. C., Souto-Padrón, T., de 63

Souza, W., & Cayota, A. (2014). Gene expression changes induced by Trypanosoma cruzi shed microvesicles in mammalian host cells: relevance of tRNA-derived halves. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 305239.

- Gonçalves, B. P., Huang, C.-Y., Morrison, R., Holte, S., Kabyemela, E., Prevots, D. R., ... & Duffy, P. E. (2014). Parasite burden and severity of malaria in Tanzanian children. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(19), 1799–1808
- Götz, A., Tang, M. S., Ty, M. C., Arama, C., Ongoiba, A., Doumtabe, D., ... & Rodriguez, A. (2017). Atypical activation of dendritic cells by *Plasmodium falciparum. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 201708383.
- Greening, D. W., Gopal, S. K., Xu, R., Simpson, R. J., & Chen, W. (2015). Exosomes and their roles in immune regulation and cancer. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, 40, 72–81.
- Guenot, M., Loizon, S., Howard, J., Costa, G., Baker, D. A., Mohabeer, S. Y., ... & Behr, C. (2015). Phosphoantigen Burst upon *Plasmodium falciparum* Schizont Rupture Can Distantly Activate Vγ9Vδ2 T Cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 83(10), 3816–3824.
- Hanson, J., Lee, S. J., Hossain, M. A., Anstey, N. M., Charunwatthana, P., Maude, R. J., ... & Dondorp, A. M. (2015). Microvascular obstruction and endothelial activation are independently associated with the clinical manifestations of severe falciparum malaria in adults: an observational study. *BMC Medicine*, 13, 122
- Harding, C., Heuser, J., & Stahl, P. (1983). Receptor-mediated endocytosis of transferrin and recycling of the transferrin receptor in rat reticulocytes. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 97(2), 329–339.

- Hodgson, S. H., Ewer, K. J., Bliss, C. M., Edwards, N. J., Rampling, T., Anagnostou, N. A., ...& Hill, A. V. S. (2015). Evaluation of the efficacy of ChAd63-MVA vectored vaccines expressing circumsporozoite protein and ME-TRAP against controlled human malaria infection in malaria-naive individuals. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 211(7), 1076–1086.
- Horne-Debets, J. M., Faleiro, R., Karunarathne, D. S., Liu, X. Q., Lineburg, K. E., Poh, C. M., ... & Wykes, M. N. (2013). PD-1 Dependent Exhaustion of CD8+ T Cells Drives Chronic Malaria. *Cell Reports*, 5(5), 1204–1213.
- Iero, M., Valenti, R., Huber, V., Filipazzi, P., Parmiani, G., Fais, S., & Rivoltini, L. (2008). Tumour-released exosomes and their implications in cancer immunity. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 15(1), 80–88.
- Illingworth, J., Butler, N. S., Roetynck, S., Mwacharo, J., Pierce, S. K., Bejon, P., ... & Ndungu, F. M. (2013). Chronic exposure to *Plasmodium falciparum* is associated with phenotypic evidence of B and T cell exhaustion. *Journal* of *Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, 190(3), 1038–1047.
- Inagaki, S., Onishi, S., Kuramitsu, H. K., & Sharma, A. (2006). Porphyromonas gingivalis vesicles enhance attachment, and the leucine-rich repeat BspA protein is required for invasion of epithelial cells by "Tannerella forsythia". *Infection and Immunity*, 74(9), 5023–5028.
- Jones, M. K., & Good, M. F. (2006). Malaria parasites up close. *Nature medicine*. *12* (2), 170–171)
- Josling, G. A., & Llinás, M. (2015). Sexual development in Plasmodium parasites: knowing when it's time to commit. *Nature Reviews. Microbiology*, 13(9), 573–587
- Kalluri, R. (2016). The biology and function of exosomes in cancer. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 126(4), 1208–1215.

- Keller, S., Ridinger, J., Rupp, A. K., Janssen, J. W. G., & Altevogt, P. (2011). Body fluid derived exosomes as a novel template for clinical diagnostics. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 9, 1–9
- Kim, J. W., Wieckowski, E., Taylor, D. D., Reichert, T. E., Watkins, S., & Whiteside, T. L. (2005). Fas Ligand – Positive Membranous Vesicles Isolated from Sera of Patients with Oral Cancer Induce Apoptosis of Activated T Lymphocytes Fas Ligand – Positive Membranous Vesicles Isolated from Sera of Patients with Oral Cancer Induce Apoptosis of Activated T. Clinical Cancer Research, 11, 1010–1020.
- Kuo, W. P., Tigges, J. C., Toxavidis, V., & Ghiran, I. (2017). Red Blood Cells: A Source of Extracellular Vesicles. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.*), 1660, 15–22.
- Lambertz, U., Silverman, J. M., Nandan, D., McMaster, W. R., Clos, J., Foster, L. J., & Reiner, N. E. (2012). Secreted virulence factors and immune evasion in visceral leishmaniasis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *91*(6), 887–899.
- Langhorne, J., Ndungu, F. M., Sponaas, A.-M., & Marsh, K. (2008). Immunity to malaria: more questions than answers. *Nature Immunology*, 9(7), 725– 732.
- Lee, E.-Y. Y., Choi, D.-Y. Y., Kim, D.-K. K., Kim, J.-W. W., Park, J. O., Kim, S.-H., ... & Gho, Y. S. (2009). Gram-positive bacteria produce membrane vesicles: proteomics-based characterization of Staphylococcus aureusderived membrane vesicles. *Proteomics*, 9(24), 5425–5436.
- Luster, A. D., & Ravetch, J. V. (1987). Biochemical characterization of a γ interferon-inducible cytokine (ip-10). *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 166(4), 1084–1097.
- MacDonald, S. M., Bhisutthibhan, J., Shapiro, T. A., Rogerson, S. J., Taylor, T. E., ... & Meshnick, S. R. (2001). Immune mimicry in malaria: *Plasmodium*

*falciparum* secretes a functional histamine-releasing factor homolog in vitro and in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(19), 10829–10832.

- Manning, A. J., & Kuehn, M. J. (2011). Contribution of bacterial outer membrane vesicles to innate bacterial defense. *BMC Microbiology*, 11, 258.
- Mantel, P.-Y., Hjelmqvist, D., Walch, M., Kharoubi-Hess, S., Nilsson, S., Ravel, D., ... & Marti, M. (2016). Infected erythrocyte-derived extracellular vesicles alter vascular function via regulatory Ago2-miRNA complexes in malaria. *Nature Communications*, 7, 12727
- Mantel, P.-Y., Hoang, A. N., Goldowitz, I., Potashnikova, D., Hamza, B., Vorobjev, I., ... & Marti, M. (2013). Malaria-infected erythrocyte-derived microvesicles mediate cellular communication within the parasite population and with the host immune system. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 13(5), 521–534.
- Mantel, P., & Marti, M. (2014). The role of extracellular vesicles in P lasmodium and other protozoan parasites Microreview The role of extracellular vesicles in Plasmodium and. January 2014.
- Marcilla, A., Martin-Jaular, L., Trelis, M., de Menezes-Neto, A., Osuna, A., Bernal, D., ... & Del Portillo, H. A. (2014). Extracellular vesicles in parasitic diseases. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*, 3, 25040.
- Marsh, K., Forster, D., Waruiru, C., Mwangi, I., Winstanley, M., Marsh, V., ... & Snow, R. (1995). Indicators of life-threatening malaria in African children. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 332(21), 1399–1404.
- Marti, M., & Johnson, P. J. (2016). Emerging roles for extracellular vesicles in parasitic infections. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, *32*, 66–70.
- Martin-Jaular, L., Nakayasu, E. S., Ferrer, M., Almeida, I. C., & Portillo, H. A.

(2011). Exosomes from Plasmodium yoelii-infected reticulocytes protect mice from lethal infections. *PLoS ONE*, *6*.

- Mashburn-Warren, L. M., & Whiteley, M. (2006). Special delivery: vesicle trafficking in prokaryotes. *Molecular Microbiology*, *61*(4), 839–846.
- Mashburn-Warren, L., McLean, R. J. C., & Whiteley, M. (2008). Gram-negative outer membrane vesicles: beyond the cell surface. *Geobiology*, 6(3), 214– 219.
- Mashburn, L. M., & Whiteley, M. (2005). Membrane vesicles traffic signals and facilitate group activities in a prokaryote. *Nature*, *437*(7057), 422–425.
- McBroom, A. J., & Kuehn, M. J. (2007). Release of outer membrane vesicles by Gram-negative bacteria is a novel envelope stress response. *Molecular Microbiology*, 63(2), 545–558.
- Moir, S., & Fauci, A. S. (2009). B cells in HIV infection and disease. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, 9(4), 235–245
- Morelli, A. E., Larregina, A. T., Shufesky, W. J., Sullivan, M. L. G., Stolz, D. B., Papworth, G. D., ... & Thomson, A. W. (2004). Endocytosis, intracellular sorting, and processing of exosomes by dendritic cells. *Blood*, 104(10), 3257–3266
- Moxon, C. A., Wassmer, S. C., Milner, D. A. J., Chisala, N. V, Taylor, T. E., Seydel,
  K. B., ... & Heyderman, R. S. (2013). Loss of endothelial protein C receptors links coagulation and inflammation to parasite sequestration in cerebral malaria in African children. *Blood*, *122*(5), 842–851.
- Muller, L., Mitsuhashi, M., Simms, P., Gooding, W. E., & Whiteside, T. L. (2016). Tumor-derived exosomes regulate expression of immune function- related genes in human T cell subsets. *Nature Publishing Group*, *April 2015*, 1– 13

- Mwangi, S. J., Gwela, A., Mwikali, K., Bargul, J. L., Nduati, E. W., Ndungu, F. M., ... & Abdi, A. I. (2020). Impact of Plasmodium falciparum small-sized extracellular vesicles on host peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Wellcome Open Research, 5, 197.
- Nantakomol, D., Dondorp, A. M., Krudsood, S., Udomsangpetch, R., Pattanapanyasat, K., Combes, V., ... & Chotivanich, K. (2011). Circulating red cell-derived microparticles in human malaria. The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 203(5), 700–706
- Otto, T. D., Assefa, S. A., Böhme, U., Sanders, M. J., Kwiatkowski, D. P., Berriman, M., & Newbold, C. (2019). Evolutionary analysis of the most polymorphic gene family in Falciparum malaria [version 1; peer review: 1 approved, 2 approved with reservations]. Wellcome Open Research, 4.
- Pankoui Mfonkeu, J. B., Gouado, I., Fotso Kuaté, H., Zambou, O., Amvam Zollo, P. H., Grau, G. E. R., & Combes, V. (2010). Elevated cell-specific microparticles are a biological marker for cerebral dysfunctions in human severe malaria. PloS One, 5(10), e13415.
- Pieper, K., Tan, J., Piccoli, L., Foglierini, M., Barbieri, S., Chen, Y., ...& Lanzavecchia, A. (2017). Public antibodies to malaria antigens generated by two LAIR1 insertion modalities. Nature, 548(7669), 597-601.
- Pisitkun, T., Shen, R.-F., & Knepper, M. A. (2004). Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 101(36), 13368–13373
- Portugal, S., Pierce, S. K., & Crompton, P. D. (2013). Young Lives Lost as B Cells Falter: What We Are Learning About Antibody Responses in Malaria. The Journal of Immunology, 190(7), 3039–3046.
- Portugal, Silvia, Tipton, C. M., Sohn, H., Kone, Y., Wang, J., Li, S., Skinner, J., ... & Crompton, P. D. (2015). Malaria-associated atypical memory B cells 69

exhibit markedly reduced B cell receptor signaling and effector function. *ELife*, *4*.

- Quah, B. J. C., Warren, H. S., & Parish, C. R. (2007). Monitoring lymphocyte proliferation in vitro and in vivo with the intracellular fluorescent dye carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester. *Nature Protocols*, 2(9), 2049–2056
- Raposo, G., & Stoorvogel, W. (2013). Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 200(4), 373–383.
- Record, M., Subra, C., Silvente-Poirot, S., & Poirot, M. (2011). Exosomes as intercellular signalosomes and pharmacological effectors. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 81(10), 1171–1182.
- Regev-Rudzki, N., Wilson, D. W., Carvalho, T. G., Sisquella, X., Coleman, B. M., Rug, M., ... & Cowman, A. F. (2013). Cell-cell communication between malaria-infected red blood cells via exosome-like vesicles. *Cell*, 153(5), 1120–1133
- Rivera, J., Cordero, R. J. B., Nakouzi, A. S., Frases, S., Nicola, A., & Casadevall, A. (2010). Bacillus anthracis produces membrane-derived vesicles containing biologically active toxins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(44), 19002– 19007.
- Schooling, S. R., Hubley, A., & Beveridge, T. J. (2009). Interactions of DNA with biofilm-derived membrane vesicles. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 191(13), 4097–4102
- Schorey, J S, Cheng, Y., Singh, P. P., & Smith, V. L. (2015). Exosomes and other extracellular vesicles in host-pathogen interactions. *EMBO Rep*, 16(1), 24–43

- Schorey, Jeffrey S, & Bhatnagar, S. (2008). Exosome function: from tumor immunology to pathogen biology. *Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark)*, 9(6), 871–881
- Scott, J. A. G., Bauni, E., Moisi, J. C., Ojal, J., Gatakaa, H., Nyundo, C., ... & Williams, T. N. (2012). Profile: The Kilifi Health and Demographic Surveillance System (KHDSS). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 41(3), 650–657
- Silverman, J. M., Clos, J., Horakova, E., Wang, A. Y., Wiesgigl, M., Kelly, I., ... & Reiner, N. E. (2010). Leishmania exosomes modulate innate and adaptive immune responses through effects on monocytes and dendritic cells. J Immunol, 185(9), 5011–5022. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1000541
- Simons, M., & Raposo, G. (2009). Exosomes vesicular carriers for intercellular communication. In *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 21(4), 575–581)
- Singh, P. P., LeMaire, C., Tan, J. C., Zeng, E., & Schorey, J. S. (2011). Exosomes released from M. tuberculosis infected cells can suppress IFN-γ mediated activation of naïve macrophages. *PloS One*, 6(4), e18564.
- Sisquella, X., Nebl, T., Thompson, J. K., Whitehead, L., Malpede, B. M., Salinas, ...
  & Cowman, A. F. (2017). *Plasmodium falciparum* ligand binding to erythrocytes induce alterations in deformability essential for invasion. *ELife*, 6
- Snow, R. W., Guerra, C. a, Noor, A. M., Myint, H. Y., & Simon, I. (2005). The global distribution of clinical episodes of *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *Nature. Author Manuscript; Available in PMC 2011*, 434(7030), 214–217.
- Stephens, N. A., & Hajduk, S. L. (2011). Endosomal localization of the serum resistance-associated protein in African trypanosomes confers human infectivity. *Eukaryotic Cell*, 10(8), 1023–1033.

- Struik, S. S., & Riley, E. M. (2004). Does malaria suffer from lack of memory? *Immunological Reviews*, 201, 268–290.
- Sun, T., Holowka, T., Song, Y., Zierow, S., Leng, L., Chen, Y., ... & Bucala, R. (2012). A Plasmodium-encoded cytokine suppresses T-cell immunity during malaria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(31), E2117-26.
- Swatler, J., Dudka, W., Bugajski, L., Brewinska-Olchowik, M., Kozlowska, E., & Piwocka, K. (2020). Chronic myeloid leukemia-derived extracellular vesicles increase Foxp3 level and suppressive activity of thymic regulatory T cells. *European journal of immunology* 50(4), 606–609).
- Szempruch, A. J., Dennison, L., Kieft, R., Harrington, J. M., & Hajduk, S. L. (2016). Sending a message: extracellular vesicles of pathogenic protozoan parasites. *Nature Reviews. Microbiology*, 14(11), 669–675.
- Szempruch, A. J., Sykes, S. E., Kieft, R., Dennison, L., Becker, A. C., Gartrell, A., ... & Harrington, J. M. (2016). Extracellular Vesicles from Trypanosoma brucei Mediate Virulence Factor Transfer and Cause Host Anemia. *Cell*, 164(1–2), 246–257
- Takala, S. L., & Plowe, C. V. (2009). Genetic diversity and malaria vaccine design, testing and efficacy: preventing and overcoming "vaccine resistant malaria". *Parasite Immunology*, 31(9), 560–573.
- Tan, J., Pieper, K., Piccoli, L., Abdi, A., Perez, M. F., Geiger, R., ... & Lanzavecchia, A. (2016). A LAIR1 insertion generates broadly reactive antibodies against malaria variant antigens. *Nature*, 529(7584), 105–109.
- Taylor, T. E., Fu, W. J., Carr, R. A., Whitten, R. O., Mueller, J. S., Fosiko, ... & Molyneux, M. E. (2004). Differentiating the pathologies of cerebral malaria by postmortem parasite counts. *Nature Medicine*, 10(2), 143–145.

- Théry, C., Duban, L., Segura, E., Véron, P., Lantz, O., & Amigorena, S. (2002). Indirect activation of naïve CD4+ T cells by dendritic cell-derived exosomes. *Nature Immunology*, 3(12), 1156–1162.
- Théry, C., Ostrowski, M., & Segura, E. (2009). Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, 9(8), 581–593.
- Théry, C., Witwer, K. W., Aikawa, E., Alcaraz, M. J., Anderson, J. D., Andriantsitohaina, R., ... & Zuba-Surma, E. K. (2018). Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*, 7(1), 1535750
- Théry, C., Zitvogel, L., & Amigorena, S. (2002). Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. In *Nature reviews. Immunology* (Vol. 2, Issue 8, pp. 569– 579).
- Trager, W., & Jensen, J. B. (1976). Human malaria parasites in continuous culture. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), *193*(4254), 673–675. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.781840
- Tripathi, A., Sha, W., Shulaev, V., Stins, M. F., & It, B. (2009). *Plasmodium falciparum*–infected erythrocytes induce NF-kB regulated inflammatory pathways in human cerebral endothelium. *Inflammation*, 114(19), 4243–4252
- Turner, L., Lavstsen, T., Berger, S. S., Wang, C. W., Petersen, J. E. V, Avril, M., ...
  & Theander, T. G. (2013). Severe malaria is associated with parasite binding to endothelial protein C receptor. *Nature*, 498(7455), 502–505.
- Twu, O., Miguel, N. De, Lustig, G., Stevens, G. C., Vashisht, A. A., Wohlschlegel, J.
  A., & Johnson, P. J. (2013). Trichomonas vaginalis Exosomes Deliver
  Cargo to Host Cells and Mediate Host : *Parasite Interactions*, 9(7), 22–

- Weiss, G. E., Crompton, P. D., Li, S., Walsh, L. A., Moir, S., Traore, B., ... & Pierce, S. K. (2009). Atypical memory B cells are greatly expanded in individuals living in a malaria-endemic area. *Journal of Immunology* (*Baltimore, Md. : 1950*), 183(3), 2176–2182
- Weiss, G. E., Traore, B., Kayentao, K., Ongoiba, A., Doumbo, S., Doumtabe, D., ...
  & Crompton, P. D. (2010). The *Plasmodium falciparum*-specific human memory B cell compartment expands gradually with repeated malaria infections. *PLoS Pathogens*, 6(5), e1000912.
- Wherry, E. J. (2011). T cell exhaustion. Nature Immunology, 12(6), 492-499.
- Wherry, E. J., Ha, S.-J., Kaech, S. M., Haining, W. N., Sarkar, ... & Ahmed, R. (2007). Molecular signature of CD8+ T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. *Immunity*, 27(4), 670–684.
- White, N. J. (2008). Plasmodium knowlesi: the fifth human malaria parasite. Clinical Infectious Diseases : An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America, 46(2), 172–173
- White, N. J., Pukrittayakamee, S., Hien, T. T., Faiz, M. A., Mokuolu, O. A., & Dondorp, A. M. (2014). Malaria. *Lancet*, 383.
- Whiteside, T. L. (2013). Immune modulation of T-cell and NK (natural killer) cell activities by TEXs (tumour-derived exosomes). *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 41(1), 245–251
- WHO Malaria Report. (2021). World malaria report 2021. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240040496
- Wykes, M. N., Horne-Debets, J. M., Leow, C.-Y., & Karunarathne, D. S. (2014).Malaria drives T cells to exhaustion. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *5*, 249.

- Yang, C., Chalasani, G., Ng, Y.-H., & Robbins, P. D. (2012). Exosomes released from Mycoplasma infected tumor cells activate inhibitory B cells. *PloS One*, 7(4), e36138
- Ye, W., Chew, M., Hou, J., Lai, F., Leopold, S. J., Loo, H. L., ... & Chen, J. (2018). Microvesicles from malaria-infected red blood cells activate natural killer cells via MDA5 pathway. *PLoS Pathogens*, 14(10), e1007298.
- Zhang, G., Ducatelle, R., Pasmans, F., D'Herde, K., Huang, L., Smet, A., Haesebrouck, F., & Flahou, B. (2013). Effects of Helicobacter suis γglutamyl transpeptidase on lymphocytes: modulation by glutamine and glutathione supplementation and outer membrane vesicles as a putative delivery route of the enzyme. *PloS One*, 8(10), e77966.
- Zhao, H., Yang, L., Baddour, J., Achreja, A., Bernard, V., Moss, T., ... & Nagrath,D. (2016). Tumor microenvironment derived exosomes pleiotropically modulate cancer cell metabolism. *ELife*, *5*, e10250.

## **APPENDICES**

## Appendix I: Accepted research article for peer review





#### REVISED Amendments from Version 1

Additional text and references was added in response to the reviewers comments. Everything else remain the same as the originally submitted version.

Any further responses from the reviewers can be found at the end of the article

#### Introduction

Plasmodium falciparum causes almost half a million deaths per year. In the human host, the parasite infects both the liver and red blood cells, but it is the parasite-host interaction during the blood stage that is responsible for pathology. P. falciparum-infected red blood cells can interact with the host cells directly, for example through endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR) to induce inflammation2, and also indirectly through secreted parasite factors3-7

One way secreted effector molecules are released from cells is through extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs are double-layered membrane-bound nanoparticles that are released by cells. They are usually classified into two major sub-groups, small-sized and medium-sized extracellular vesicles<sup>8</sup> often termed as exosomes and microvesicles respectively<sup>3,30</sup>. Small-sized extracellular vesicles (sEVs) are vesicles with a diameter of 30-150 nm. They are generated through inward budding of the limiting membrane of late endosomes resulting in the forma-tion of intraluminal vesicles (ILVs). Late endosomes containing many ILVs are called multivesicular bodies (MVBs) which then fuse with cell membranes and release ILVs into the extracellular space as exosomes or sEVs4.10. On the other hand, the of the medium-sized EVs (mEVs) range between diameter 100 and 1000 nm and are formed when part of the cell plasma membrane 'pinches-off' with part of the cytoplasm and surface receptors/proteins and are released into the extracellular milieu10

EVs have the ability to transfer their packaged signaling competent molecules (including proteins, lipids, nucleic acids, and metabolites) from one cell to another, consequently modifying the properties of the recipient target cell(§<sup>3</sup>)<sup>113</sup>, Research in the pathophysiology of several diseases such as cancer<sup>12,11,13</sup> and infectious diseases<sup>64-49</sup> provide evidence for a role of EVs in mediating intercellular interactions<sup>10,6-30</sup>, Tumor- and pathogen-derived EVs have been shown to have the ability to abrogate the host immunological defense mechanisms as a way of evading immune responses within the host28,28-26

In the context of malaria, P. falciparum EVs (PfEVs) have a role in intercellular communication<sup>23</sup> as well as in inducing sexual commitment<sup>(4,37</sup>). Extracellular vesicles reflect the molecular phenotype of the cells releasing them<sup>13</sup>. Analysis of the impact of host-parasite interactions mediated by PfEVs may improve our understanding of the pathogenesis of severe malaria and the mechanisms through which the parasite modulates the host immune response. Furthermore, proteomic analysis revealed that PfEVs are enriched in parasite proteins involved in

interaction with the host cells16,26 and have been shown to induce inflammation<sup>16</sup> and endothelial activation<sup>27</sup> and its plasma circulating level to increase with severity of the infection28. However, to date, all studies on the impact of Plasmodium EVs on host immune response have been performed using either rodent malacia<sup>29-31</sup> or using long-term laboratory-adapted *P. falciparum* isolates<sup>16,39</sup>. Our study is the first to use *P. falciparum* clinical isolates. The quan-tity and repertoire of the content of *PfEVs* from clinical isolates appears to be different from that of long-term laboratory-adapted parasite isolates<sup>28</sup> and this may affect their functional impact on host immune cells. In this study, we compared the functional impact of *Pfs*EVs and the autochthonous *Pfi*RBCs of a clinical isolate adapted to short-term culture (<70 cycles) on human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC).

#### Methods

Plasmodium falciparum isolate A Kenyan P. falciparum clinical parasite isolate (unique lab identifier, 9215) was used in this study. This isolate was obtained from a child admitted at Kilifi County Hospital with respiratory distress<sup>17</sup> and was adapted to *in vitro* culture (<70 cycles) and used in previous studies<sup>34,35</sup>, Isolate 9215 was renamed to PfKE12 in unpublished genome data36

Harvesting and processing of parasite culture media for isolation of *Pfs*EVs

PfKE12 was grown under standard culturing conditions30. Myco asma contamination was routinely monitored using PCR. The parasite cultures were tightly synchronized using D-sorbitol (Sigma) treatment and bulked up to six flasks, each containing 500 µl packed cell volume at 7% parasitemia. These cultures were grown in 40 ml of complete culture media, (RPMI 1640 [sigma] + L-glutamine [2mM] + Hepes [37.5mM] + D-glucose [0.2%v/v] + gentamicin [25µg/m]]+ sodium-hypoxanthine [50µg/ mll) (all from Gibco) supplemented with 0.25% Albumax-II (Gibco) that had previously been depleted of sEVs by ultracentrifugation at 150,000×g for 2 hours. The culture media added at an early ring stage was harvested after 24 hours when the parasites were in the mature trophozoite stage (herein referred to as the rings-to-trophozoite or the RT sample). In this study, the culture-conditioned media (CCM) from the RT sample was harvested as previously described<sup>28</sup> and is shown in Figure 1A. Briefly, the parasite culture was transferred to a 50-ml Falcon tube and centrifuged at 440xg for 5 minutes to pellet down RBCs and the supernatant transferred to a new 50-ml falcon tube. The supernatant (CCM) was then centrifuged once at 440×g for 5 minutes to remove any remaining RBCs and the supernatant transferred into a new 50-ml Falcon tube. This was followed by centrifugation twice at 2,000×g for 10 minutes, once at 3,600×g for 10 minutes and once at 15,000×g for 30 minutes to pellet out mEVs.The mEVs pellet was then resuspended in 1×PBS and stored at -80°C until use (this pellet will be referred to as PfmEVs if from P. falciparum CCM). The resultant supernatant from the final centrifugation at 15,000×g above was filtered through a 0.2-µm filter (FiltoSpurS, Sarstedt) and stored at -80°C until use. Uninfected red blood cells (uRBCs) freshly obtained from a donor or stored for a month at  $4^{\circ}C$  were also cultured in six flasks each containing 500µl pucked cells and 40ml culture

Page 3 of 24



The blood was then layered on Lymphoprep<sup>TM</sup> (Stemcell Technologies) at a Lymphoprep to blood ratio of 1:2 and centrifuged at 440xg for 20 minutes at room temperature. The PBMC layer between the Lymphoprep and media was aspirated out into a new 50ml Falcon tube and washed twice in R0 at 360xg for 7 minutes and 4°C. The washed PBMC were resuspended in ice-cold freezing medium (10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in fetal call serum (FCS)) and stored overnight at -80°C in Mr. Frosty (Thermo Scientific) before being transferred to liquid nitrogen until use. Prior to storage or use, PBMC number and viability was determined by Trypan blue exclusion using the Vi-CELL XR 2.03 counter (Beckman Coulter, USA) and/or hemocytometer chamber.

### PBMC stimulation assays

A 1×10<sup>6</sup> PBMC per stimulation condition were co-cultured with *Pf*RBC or *Pfs*IV in 96-well U-bottomed cell culture plates (Greiner Bio-One).

The stimulation conditions included: *PfsEVs* added at a determined concentration of 20µg/ml based on consideration from a previous experiment by Mantel *et al.*<sup>10</sup>, and 1×10<sup>6</sup> MACs-purified iRBCs (*PfiRECs*). The positive controls were *Staphylococcal* enterotoxin B (SEB) at 2.5 µg/ml as a polyelonal activator and CpG-ODN (2.5 µg/ml). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) at 200 ng/ml was included as an additional positive control for a subset of experiments that involved PBMC from 12 donors. Co-culture wells with (PBMC + cell growth medium only) and (PBMC + 1×10<sup>6</sup> µRBC) were included in each experiment as that used to culture the parasites. The PBMC were co-incubated with the stimulants for 18 hours in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

Cells were harvested after 18 hours stimulation, washed in fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) buffer (1× PBS + 5% FCS + 0.01% sodium azide) and then stained with 30 µl of fluo-rescently-labeled antibody cocktail containing: Phycoerythrin (PE)-Cyanine (Cy) 5-conjugated anti-human CD3 [BioLegend, Cat#: 300410, Clone: UCHT1]/Brilliant Violet (BV)-785 anti-human CD3 [BioLegend, Cat#: 317330, Clone: OKT3], PE-Cy7-conjugated anti-human CD4 [BioLegend, Cat#: 317414, Clone: OKT4], PE-CF594 Mouse anti-human CD8, [BD Biosciences, Cat#: 562282 Clone: RPA-T8]/Alexa Fluor 700-conjugated anti-human CD8a [BioLegend, Cat#: 301028 Clone: RPA-T8, 0.5mg/ml], Pacific Blue-conjugated anti-human CD19 [BioLegend, Cat#: 982404, Clone: HIB19, 200µg/ml]/PE-Cy5 anti-human CD19 [BioLegend Cat#: 302210, Clone: HIB19], BV650-conjugated anti-human CD14 [BioLegend, Cat#: 301836, Clone: M5E2], Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated anti-human CD69 [BioLegend, Cat#: 310916, Clone: FN50], BV711-conjugated anti-human CD25 [BioLegend, Cat#: 302636, Clone: BC96], and Fixable Viability Dye eFluor® 780, [eBioscience, Catif: 65-0865-18]. All antibodies were used at a 1:200 dilution apart from BV711 anti-human CD25 that was used at a 1:100 dilution. (Those antibodies without indicated concentrations have either lot-specific concentrations or pre-diluted for use at recommended volume per test).

Wellcome Open Research 2021, 5:197 Last updated: 21 NOV 2021

The cells were stained for 30 minutes at 4°C and washed twice before being re-suspended in 300 µl of FACS-flow buffer (BD Biosciences). Cells were acquired on the LSRFortessa<sup>TM</sup> cell analyzer (BD Biosciences). At least 100,000 events were acquired per stimulation condition and at least 170,000 events for the *PfiRICs* and uRBCs conditions since these had an extra cell lysis step prior to staining. Data were analyzed using FlowJo@ software version 10.0 (Tree Star).

#### ELISA and LUMINEX assays

Cell free culture supernatants from the stimulation assays (above) were aspirated and stored at -20°C prior to cytokine analysis. Supernants used for this assay were all from the subset of experiments where LPS was included as an additional positive control condition. Supernants were thawed on ice and used to quantify a total of 29 analytes;  $IFN-\alpha 2$ ,  $IFN-\gamma$ ,  $IL-1\alpha$ ,  $IL-1\beta$ , IL-ira, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-10, IL-13, IL-15, IL-17A, TNF-α, TNF-β, GM-CSF, G-CSF, IL-12 (p40), IL-12 (p70), IL-8, EGF, P-10 (CXCL4), MCP-1 (CCL2), MIP-1 (α (CCL3), MIP-1β (CCL4), VEGF, and Eotaxin (CCL1). Analytes were measured using the MILLIPLEX Human Cytokine/Chemokine Magnetic bead 29-Plex assay (catalogue) #HCYTMAG-60K-PX29) from Merck-Millipore following the manufacturer's instructions. A total of 25 µl of the culture supernatant was diluted 1:5 times in assay medium and incubated with 25  $\mu t$  of anti-cytokine antibody-coupled magnetic beads for 2 hours at room temperature while shaking at 500 rpm in the dark. The beads were then washed twice and incubated with 25 µl of biotinylated detector antibody for 1 hour at room temperature, before addition of streptavidin R-phycoerythrin and further incubation for 30 minutes (between each washing step, the beads were retained in the plate using a magnetic separator). After a final wash, beads were re-suspended in 150 µl of LUMINEX Drive Fluid and 100 beads counted for each cytokine in a MAGPIX reader running on MAGPIX xPOTENT 4.2 software (Luminex Corporation). Analyte concen-trations were calculated (via Milliplex Analyst v5.1 [VigeneTech]) from the mean fluorescence intensity expressed in pg/ml using standard curves with known concentrations of each analyte, In addition to the 29 analytes measured using the Lum platform, TGF-B levels were measured using an ELISA kit (ThermoFisher; cat# BMS249-4) following the ma protocol.

#### Anti-schizont antibody ELISA

Prozen plasma samples from the PBMC donors were thawed and used in an anti-schizont FLISA to determine prior exposure to malaria. FLISA plates were coated with 100 µl of 1:6000 diluted crude schizont extract/lysate and incubated overnight at 4°C. The plates were then aspirated and blocked with 1% skimmed milk and incubated for 5 hours at room temperature with washes between each step. This was followed by addition and an overnight incubation with 100µl of the 1:1000 diluted plasma, 3 hours incubation at room temperature with 100 µl of HRP-conjugated Rabbit anti-human IgG (Thermo Scientific) and final incubation with 100µl of the o-Phenylendfamine dihydrochloride (OPD) substrate for 15 minutes. The reaction was stopped with 25 µl of 2 M H<sub>2</sub>SQ, and the plates read at

Page 5 of 24

#### Wellcome Open Research 2021, 5:197 Last updated: 21 NOV 2021

492 nm on a Synergy 4 (Bio Tek) plate reader, recording the samples' optical densities (OD).

#### Data analysis

The flow cytometry data from the FlowJo® analysis and ELISA data analyses were performed using Prism 6.01 (GraphPad), Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare continuous variables between two conditions. The chemokine/cytokine dataset was transformed using Yeo Johnson transformation<sup>31</sup> for the data to conform to normal distribution and t-test was used to compare between two conditions. The unstimulated PBMC cutlture medium (media) was used as the background negative control condition for both PfsEVs and PfiRBCs. For P/RBCs, relative comprison to uRBCs condition was also shown. To test the impact of prior malaria exposure on PBMC response to PfsEVs and PfiRBCs stimulation, the anti-schizont IgG response in the contemporaneous plasma sample of each PBMC sample was related, using Spearman's rank correlation, to the induced expression of the activation markers on CD4+, CD8+, CD19\*, CD14\*cells following stimulation with either  $P_{\rm f}$ SEVs or  $P_{\rm f}$ RBCs. Due to small sample size (N=8), the same test was not done for the cytokine/chemokine data. For all tests, P values were considered significant if <0.05.

#### Ethical statement

Ethical approval was obtained from Kenya Medical Research Institute Scientific and Ethical Review Unit (KEMRI/SERU/ CGMRC/022/3149), and written informed consent was obtained from the PBMC sample donors. The study methods were carried out in accordance with the approved guidelines.

#### Results

# Infected RBCs release a greater quantity of small-sized extracellular vesicles (sEVs) than uninfected RBCs mEVs and sEVs were isolated from culture conditioned

media (CCM) of PfiRBCs from a Kenyan clinical isolate (PfKE12) and uRBCs as shown in Figure 1a. We have previously demonstrated successful isolation of sEVs from PfiRBCs CCM by transmission electron microscopy<sup>36</sup> using the protocol described in the methods and schematically represented in Figure 1a. In this study, we used the isolated mEVs and sEVs protein concentration as a proxy for EV abundance<sup>4</sup>. As shown in Figure 1B, the mean protein concentration of mEVs from PfiRBCs CCM (PfmEVs) was -4.9-fold higher than that of uRBCs (uRBCs-mEVs), perhaps as result of a combination of the additional parasite-derived proteins packaged into the mEVs on top of those derived from the host and increased rate of mEVs  $\,$ release due to the infection.

The mean protein concentration of the sEV fraction from fresh or aged uRBCs CCM was negligible (Figure 1B), consist ent with previous reports that show mature RBCs primarily release mEVs (microvesicles) but not sEVs (exosomes)<sup>39</sup>.

Both PfiRBCs and PfsEVs induced expression of at least one of the activation markers on T cells, B cells and monocytes

PBMC samples from 20 healthy Kenyan adult donors were co-cultured with PfiRBCs and PfsEVs from the same isolate

(PfKE12). In addition to the test conditions we included unstimulated control (PBMC' culture medium) and uRBCs as negative controls; and CpG/SEB as positive control conditions. For 12 of the 20 PBMC samples (6 from high and 6 from low/no malaria transmission residents), LPS was also included as an additional positive control condition. Our inability to detect meaningful protein content in the sEV fraction isolated from uRBCs CCM equivalent to the PfsEVs used in this study excluded the possibility of using uRBC-sEVs as a negative control in the PBMC stimulation experiments.

Following co-culturing of the PBMC with the stimulants, the expression of the surface activation markers, CD25 and CD69 on T cells, B cells and monocytes was assessed by flow cytom-etry and analysed using FlowJo Software v.10.6.2. Extended data, Figure S1<sup>40</sup> shows the FlowJo gating strategy to enumerate different cell populations. Raw flow cytometry files are available as Underlying data",

PfsI:Vs induced significantly higher expression of CD25 on CD4\* T cells, CD19\* B cells and CD14\* compared to the background media condition (Figure 2A-C). In contrast, the effect of PfiRBCs was apparent only on the antigen-presenting cells, CD19\* B-cells and CD14\*monocytes (Figure 2B, C) with a sig-nificantly higher CD25 expression relative to the background condition (media or uRBCs),

Both PfsEVs and PfiRBCs induced a higher expression of CD69 on CD4\*, CD8\* and CD19\* relative to the background condition (Figure 2D-F). Additionally, PfiRBCs induced sig-nificant CD69 expression on CD14\* cells (Figure 2G). Notably, PfiRBCs induced a higher CD69 expression on CD4\* and CD19\* cells relative to that induced by PfsEVs (Figure 2E, F). Taken together, the above result shows that both PfsEVs and PfiRBCs can activate T and B cells and monocytes; but PfsEVs tended to induce higher expression of the activation marker, CD25 while *Pfi*RBCs preferentially induced higher CD69.

To exclude the possibility of low-level Mycoplasma contai tion that may be enriched during PfsEVs isolation, PfsEV-DNA extract was used in a PCR-based test. No contamination was detected (Extended data, Figure S2)\*\*.

## Pfs EVs and PfiRBCs induced common and unique

cytokine/chemokine profile For 8 out of the 20 PBMC samples (4 from high and 4 from low/no malaria transmission residents), levels of 29 different cytokines/chemokines in the culture supernatant induced by each of the stimulants were measured using Luminex. Additionally, TGI+ $\beta$  was measured by ELISA. IL-3, IL-4, and IL-5 levels were below the limit of detection with both PfsEVs and PfiR-BCs (Extended data, Figure S3)\*. The levels of 16 cytokines/ chemokines induced by PfsEVs and by PfiRBCs were not significantly greater than the levels seen in the negative controls using two-sided t-test, however, on one-sided t-test, IL-15 and G-CSF induced by both PfsEVs and PfiRBCs were signifi cantly higher relative to the background conditions (Extended data, Figure S3)<sup>®</sup>. Output ELISA files are available as Underlying data\*

Page 6 of 24



tion of IL-17a induced by PfsEVs tended to be higher than that induced by PfiRBCs (p=0.07, Figure 31). Interestingly, in contrast to most cytokines/chemokines, the level of MCP-1 induced by both PfiRBCs and PfsEVs was uniquely higher than that induced by LPS (Figure 3G). Additionally, the level of IP-10 induced by PfiRBCs was also significantly higher than that induced by LPS (Figure 3K), Overall, both PfsEVs and PfiRBCs were able to induce various chemokines and cytokines but PfsEVs seems to be better in inducing secretion of  $\Pi_{\rm r} 17\alpha$  while PfiRBCs was better in inducing  $\Pi {\rm \cdot N} {\rm \cdot \gamma}$  and IP-10 suggesting that they might have differential abilities in inducing Th17 and Th1 T cell responses, respectively.

#### Exposure to malaria tends to tolerise monocytes responses to PfsEVs

Given that malaria exposure has been shown to induce immunological tolerance<sup>11</sup> of, we related the cell surface activation data to each donor's lgG response to crude schizont extract using Spearman's rank correlation. As shown in Figure 4, CD25 expression on CD14\* cells (CD14\*CD25\*) following stimulation of the PBMC samples with PfsEVs or PfiRBCs decreased with

N=20). This result suggest malaria exposure tolerizes the host innate immune response to PfsEVs. The cytokine/chemokine data was not subjected to the same analysis due to small sample size (N=8).

#### Discussion

In this study we investigated 1) whether PfsEVs can induce PBMC activation in vitro, specifically by measuring cell surface activation markers and cytokines/chemokines secreted into the culture media following co-culture with PBMC; 2) how the PBMC activation induced by PfsEVs compares with that of PfiRBCs; and 3) whether prior exposure to malaria among the PBMC donors influences the level of the induced PBMC activation markers.

We showed that both PfsEVs and PfiRBCs induced T-cells, B-cells, and monocytes to express at least one of the surface activation markers examined relative to the negative control condition. PfsEVs showed relatively stronger induction of CD25 expression while PfiRBCs preferentially induced CD69 expression, particularly on B-cells. At the cytokine/chemokine level, both induced secretion of several cytokines/chemokines

Page 7 of 24



Wellcome Open Research 2021, 5:197 Last updated: 21 NOV 2021

but they also showed differential ability to induce secretion of some cytokines. Notably, PfsEVs induced secretion of higher levels of IL-17 relative to the background media and tended to be higher than that induced by PfiRBCs (Figure 31). IL-17a is known to be secreted by Th17 CD4+ T cells and the cytokines, IL-6 and TGI-β have been shown to be able to induce differentiation of naïve CD4 T-cells into Th17 cells in vitro<sup>44</sup>. Interestingly, PfsEVs also induced significantly higher levels of 3E) but not TGF-β (Extended data, Figure S3)\* IL-6 (Fis IL-6 (Figure 3E) but not TGT-p (Extended data, Figure 3.7. On the other hand, *PfiRBCs* showed superior ability to induce secretion of IFN-y and IP-10 relative to the background uRBCs and even to *Pfs*IVs condition when co-cultured with PBMC (Figure 3J-K. IP-10 secretion is driven by a pro-inflammatory cytokine milieu including  $\Pi^{1}N-\gamma^{45}$ ; thus, it is plausible that high levels of  $\Pi^{1}N-\gamma$  led to the IP-10 secretion that we identified in response to PfiRBCs stimulation.

Hence our interpretation is that PfsEVs and PfiRBCs can induce differentiation of CD4+ T cells into Th17 and Th1 cells respec-tively. In a recent study<sup>m</sup>, PfiRBCs were shown to induce NK cells to secrete IFN- $\gamma$  while PfmEVs could not, which is consistent with the observation made in this study with P/sEVs and P/iRBCs co-cultured with PBMC. This finding warrants further characterization of the T cell subsets activated by  $P_{\rm SEVS}$ , including  $\gamma\delta$  T-cells known to be activated by phosphoantigens in P. falciparum culture medium".

observed PfiRBCs could induce significantly higher MCP-1 (CCL2) and IP-10 (CXCL10) compared to LPS when co-cultured with PBMC (Figure 3C, K). This result is consistent with observation previously made with co-culturing of PfiRBCs with purified deadritic cells<sup>41</sup>. However, in the previous study<sup>41</sup>, co-culture of *Pfi*RBCs with purified deadritic cells could not contact of random managements of the second matrix TNF-o, and IFN-y.

Previously, persistent exposure to malaria infection have been shown to tolerizes T and B cell response to malaria antigens<sup>40,0</sup>. In this study we showed, albeit with a small sample size, that the degree of previous malaria exposure (determined by the level of IgG response to crude schizont extract in the plasma of each PBMC donor) was negatively associated with monocyte's response to PfsEVs (Figure 4). PfsEV interaction with mono-cytes in vitro have been shown to induce inflammatory response<sup>39</sup>, potentially contributing to malaria pathogenesis. Therefore, tolerance to PfsEVs following frequent malaria infection may be part of the naturally acquired anti-disease immunity4

We showed that uninfected red blood cells (uRBCs) do not produce sEVs (exosomes) containing quantifiable amount of proteins using a Bradford assay. During the isolations, we used culture conditioned media (CCM) from varied uRBCs ranging from fresh (processed for culture within 1 hour after phlebotomy) to 2 weeks old cultures. By contrast, the mEV fraction from uRBC CCM repeatedly contained quantifiable amount of proteins and this is consistent with the findings of multiple studies<sup>32,49</sup>. This might indicate that uRBCs release sEVs, but with very low

levels of packaged proteins; however, it could alternatively mean that uRBCs primarily release mEVs (microvesicles). The latter interpretation is consistent with previous studies that showed developing red blood cells release sEVs during earlier stage of haematopoiesis, but mature RBCs do not<sup>30,20,31</sup> as they have lost the endocytic pathway that is essential for the biogenesis of sEVs. Despite our view, favoring the possibility of uRBCs not Despite our releasing sEVs, we cannot rule out small amount of sEVs released by uRBCs especially reticulocytes contributing to the overall impact of *PfsEVs* on PBMCs which we did not control for.

Our study has several limitations;1) lack of microscopy or NanoSight evidence demonstrating successful isolation of sI:Vs in according to ISEV2018 recommendation<sup>8</sup>. However, we have previously<sup>20</sup> isolated E:Vs whose size and density match those of sEVs using the method used in this study and also validated P. falciparum protein marker that can be targeted for western blot analysis does not exist currently, 2) while we used multiple PBMC donors to generate these results, this study used only one *P. falciparum* isolate and, therefore, we cannot conclusively determine if the results we obtained will remain similar if the number of isolates was increased for diversity. Different parasites have been shown to display a difference in virulence with studies demonstrating that this virulence can be trans-ferred to non-virulent parasite phenotypes via secreted EVs<sup>10,19</sup>. Drawing analogy from these experiments, it would be interesting to see if the phenomena we observe are consistent across isolates of *P. falciparum* with different levels of virulence, and whether any differences can be correlated with differences in protein or RNA content within the sEVs, 3) PfsEVs impact on PBMC in vivo might be different from that observed under in vitro experiment since PfsEVs are expected to interact with mul-tiple host cells including endothelial cells leading to a more complex interaction and outcome. More functional, proteomic and transcriptomic analysis of the PfEVs is clearly needed.

#### Data availability Underlying data

Harvard Datwerse: Replication Data for: Impact of Plasmo-dium falciparum small-sized extracellular vesicles (PfsEVs) on host peripheral blood mononuclear cells. https://doi.org/10.7910/ DVN/OXUFO740

- This project contains the following underlying data: Folder 1\_Flow cytometry fsc files\_PfEV\_PBMC\_paper\_ anon.zip. (FCS files generated from flow cytometry experiments.)
  - SMwangi\_PfsEV\_Data\_files\_anon.zip. (XLSX files containing raw data from cytokine analysis and ELISA experiments).
  - SMwanei PfsEVs Readme.txt. (README file.)
  - SMwangi PfsEVs Codebook.pdf. (Dataset codebook.)

Extended data

Harvard Dataverse: Replication Data for: Impact of Plasmodium falciparum small-sized extracellular vesicles (PfsEVs) on host peripheral blood mononuclear cells. https://doi.org/10.7910/ DVN/QXUF07\*

Page 9 of 24

Wellcome Open Research 2021, 5:197 Last updated: 21 NOV 2021 File 'supplementary\_material\_PfEV\_PBMC\_paper.pdf' contains Data are available under the terms of the Creative Commons the following extended data: Attribution 4.0 International license (CC-BY 4.0). · Figure S1: Gating strategy. · Figure S2: Gel electrophoresis image after PCR to test for Mycoplasma contamination in P. falciparum cultures Acknowledgements and isolated PfEVs. We are grateful to the adult volunteers who donated the blood Figure S3: Cytokines/chemokines not significantly induced following PBMC co-culture with P/sEVs or samples that was used to isolate the PBMC samples used in this study. This paper was published with the permission of the PfiRBCs. Director of Kenya Medical Research Institute. References 1. WHO: World Malaria Report 2019, 2019. ME-TRAP against controlled human malaria infection in malaria-naive individuals. / Infect Dis. 2015; 211(7); 1076–1086. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text Turner L Lexisten T, Berger SS, et al.: Severe malaria is associated with parasite binding to endothelial protein C receptor. Nature. 2013; 498(7455): 2 Fubmed autoback (Fubmed Full Fact, ) Free Full Fact Montel PK, Heng AM, Goldowitz (F at: Malaria-Infected erythrocyte-derived microvesicles mediate cellular communication within the parasite population and with the host Immune system. Cell Hast Microe. 2013; 13(5); 521-534. PubMed Abstract. | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text 16. 502-505 S02-S03. PubMed Ads. PubMed Ads. PubMed Ads. PubMed Mediate SN, Briauthinhan J, Shejiro TA, et al.: Immune mimicry in meinra: Pizzarodiwin faici/parwa socretcs a functional histamine-relea factor hamalog in vitra and ki vivo. Proc Vari Acad Sci U S A. 2001; 98(19) 10233-10232. 3. esing Regev-Russil N, Wilson DW, Cervelho TG, et al.: Cell-cell communication between malerie-Infected red blood cells via exosome-like vesicles. Cell. 2013; HSIGIP 1102–1133. Publied Abstract | Publisher Full Text 17. 10023-10033. PubMed Austract. | Publisher Full Text. | Free Full Text Tripatrix AV, She W, Shulkev V, *et al.* Plazmeollum falciparum-Infected erythrocytes Induce Ni-Kapper Regulated Inflammatory pathways in human cerebral endothellum. Blood. 2005; 114(1);5: 4434-4452. PubMed Abstract. | Publisher And Itaxi, | Free Full Text. z Volume Analysis (Listing et al.: 77/chomonas vogihails exosomes deliver cargo to host cells and mediate host-parasite interactions. PLoS Pothog. 2015; 9(7): e1003482. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Fuil Text | Free Fuil Text 18. Publica Additional Publisher Frances (Free Francesco) Sun T, Holowika T, Song Y, et al.: A Plasmodium-encoded cytokine suppresses T-cell immunity during melaria. Proc Noti Acad Sci U S A. 2012; 108(31); E2117–2126. 5. Stempruch AJ, Syles SE, Kieft R, et al. Extracellular Vesicles from Tryponosomo Arrural Mediate Virulence Factor Transfer and Cause Host Amenia. Cnl 2016; 166(1-2):240-257.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text trect | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text -communisation and a second sec đ, U J, Liu K, Liu Y, et al.: Exosomes mediate the cell-to-cell transmission of IFN-a-induced antiviral activity. Nat Januaro. 2013; 14(8): 793–803. ExoMed Defanct. J. Euclideer. 2011 Text Publied Abstract | Publisher Full Text Ripcziz R, Burdek M, Villa A, et al.: Recent downces on the role of tumor exosomes in Immunosuppression and disease progression. Semin Concer Biol. 2012; 22(4): 342-349. Publied Abstract | Publisher Full Text Med Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text 21. FubMed Asstract | Fublisher Full Text | Free Full Text Hentron J. Les 9), Hossim M.A. etc: Microwscolar obstruction and endothelial activation are independently associated with the clinical analitestations of sever factogramum mainris in adults: an observational study. SMC Med. 2015; 13: 122. PubMed Astruct. | Fublisher Full Text, | Free Full Text Thery C, Vittuer KW, Allowas E, et al: Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2016 (MISEV2018); a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines, | Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines, | Extracellular Vesicles and update.  $\overline{T}_{i}$ Publica Asstract | Publisher Pull real: Lambertz U, Silverman JM, Nandan D, et al: Secreted virulence factors and Immune evasion in visceral letsimmaniasis. J Leukoc Biol. 2012; 31(d): 887-899. Publied Abstract | Publisher Full Text 22 8. Buck AH, Coekley G, Simberl F, et al.: Exosomes secreted by nemetode persities transfer small RNAs to mammalian cells and modulate innate immunity. Net Commun. 2014; 5: S488. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Fuil Text | Free Fuil Text 23. Thery C, Ostrowski M, Segura E: Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. Not Rev Immunol. 2009; 9(3): 581–583. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text Swetter J, Ducka W, Bugajski L, et al.: Chronic myeloid leukemia-derived extracellular vesicles increase Faxp3 level and suppressive activity of thymic regulatory T cells. Ext J Jamuna 2002; 59(4): 600-608. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Pree Full Text 24 Publical examples (Control of Control of Con 10. PUDMed Address ( ) FUDMatter run reas, reserve new Corres R, Concordo L, Cabillero Z, et al: Extractilitative scieles carrying lectate dehydrogenase induce suicide in increased population density of Plasmodium folgenum in vitro. Sci Arg. 2019; 50(1): 5042. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text 25. Planeta Jacobies, Planetaria Texa, Internani Antonia, Pinet Anni Texa, Sonorgi S. Chengy S. Shengy Y. Singh PP, et al.: Rossomes and other extracellular vesicles in host-pathogen interactions. *JMSD Res*, 2015; 16(1): 24–43. Publical Astronof L Publication Found Texat, Free Anni Texat, Kalluri R. The biology and function of exosomes in cancer. *J Clin Jmvst*. 2016; 126(4): 126. 11. PubMed Abstract (Fullsther Full Text; Free Full Text Abot A; Yu, Goollago, D. et al. Proteomic enapties of extractilular vesicles marstie secretaria (Full State ), peer review: per vesicus of the marstie secretaria (Full State ), peer review: per vesicus (Full marstie secretaria), full State (Full Text; Free Full Text Mantel PC, Hjelmquist D, Walch M, et al. Infected erythrosofts-derived extractilities resides atter vesocialer function with ergolistory Ago2-miRNA complexes in mainfia. Not Commun. 2010; 7: 12272. PubMed Abstract (Full Text; Free Full Text Mantel PC, Hjelmquist D, Walch M, et al. Infected erythrosofts-derived extractilities (Full Text) (Free Full Text Mantel PC), PubMed Abstract (Full Text), Free Full Text Mantel PubMed Abstract (Full Text), Free Full Text Mantel PubMed Abstract (Full Text), Free Full Text Mantel Abstract (Full Text), Free Full Text 25. 12 tract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text ed Ab Zheo H, Yang L, Beddour J, et al. Tumor microenvironment derived exosomes pielatropically modulate cencer cell metabolism. Biye. 2016; S: e10250. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text 13. 27. Publied Addreads ( Publisher Full Red. ) Free Full Red. Costa-Silve S, Jello NM, Ocean AJ, et al. Pencreatic cancer exosomes initiate pre-metastatic niche formation in the liver. Not Cell 8(ol. 2015; 17(8): 816-820. Publied Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text 14. 28. Hodgson SH, Ewer RJ, Bitss CM, et al.: Evaluation of the efficacy of ChAd63-MVA vectored veccines expressing circumsporozoite protein and 15. 29. Martin-Jaular L, Nakayasu ES, Ferrer M, et al.: Exosomes from Plasmodium Page 10 of 24



## Appendix II: Initial ethics review approval from KEMRI/SERU

KENYA	MEDICAL RESEA	RCH INSTITUTE		
 Tel: (254) (02	P.O. Box 54840-00200 NAIRC 0) 2722541, 254 (020) 2713349, 0722-20590 Email: director@kemri.org info@kemri.org	081 - Kenya , 0733-400003 Fax (254) (020) 2720030 Website: www.kemri.org		
KEMRI/RE	S/7/3/1	January 15, 2016		
то:	FRANCIS NDUNGU, PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR	- Jales		
THROUGH:	DR. BENJAMIN TSOFA, THE DIRECTOR, CGMR-C, KILIFI	m 200 20/1/16		
Dear Sir,	a 4 - 14	CENTRE FOR GEOGRAPHIC MEDICINE RESEARCH, COAST		
RE: PROTOCOL NO. KEMRI/SERU/CGMR-C/017/3149 (RESUBMISSION 2- INITIAL): SYSTEMS IMMUNOLOGY STUDIES OF PLASMODIUM FACIPARUM MALARIA SUSCEPTABILITY IN KILIFI COUNTY.				
Reference is n acknowledges	nade to your letter dated 5 <sup>th</sup> January, 2016. receipt of the revised study protocol on 6 J	KEMRI/Scientific and Ethics Review Unit (SERU) anuary, 2016.		
This is to info KEMRI/Ethics	rm you that the Committee notes that the Review Committee (ERC) held on September	e issues raised during the 243 <sup>rd</sup> meeting of the er 16, 2015, have been adequately addressed.		
Consequently, 2016 for a p expire on 14 please submit	the study is granted approval for impleme eriod of one year. Please note that autho th <b>January, 2017.</b> If you plan to continu an application for continuation approval to	ntation effective this day <b>15<sup>th</sup> day of January</b> rization to conduct this study will automatically e data collection or analysis beyond this date, SERU by <b>3<sup>rd</sup> December 2016</b> .		
You are requishould not be problems resilively you should ac	ired to submit any proposed changes to t i initiated until written approval from SERU ulting from the implementation of this study lyise SERU when the study is completed or	his study to SERU for review and the changes is received. Please note that any unanticipated should be brought to the attention of SERU and discontinued.		
You may emb	wark on the study.	2 a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a		
Yours faithful	W. B			
PROF. ELIZ ACTING HE KEMRI SCI	ABETH BUKUSI, AD, <u>ENTIFIC AND ETHICS REVIEW UNIT</u>	RECEIVED 22 JAN 705		
		DIRECTOR'S OFFICE		

## Appendix III: Updated ethics review approval from KEMRI/SERU

	REMIRI		
KEN	P.O. Box 54840-00200, Tel:(254) (020) 2722541, 2713349, 0722-205901 E-mail: director@kemri.org, info@kem	AIROBI, Kenya , 0733-400003, Fax: (254) (020) 2720030 rri.org, Website.www.kemri.org	
KEMRI/R	ES/7/3/1	February 27, 2019	
то:	FRANCIS NDUNGU, PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR.	13/19 FOTOR MEDICINE	
THROUGH:	THE DIRECTOR, CGMR-C,	DIREGOR COAST	
Dear Sir, RE:	KEMRI/SERU/CGMR-C/022/3149 (REQUEST FOR ANNUAL RENEWAL AND		
	FACIPARUM MALARIA SUSCEPTIBILI	TY IN KILIFI COUNTY	
Thank you fo The Commit renewal was adequate.	tee noted that a protocol deviation form ha done after the date of submission require	is been submitted as the roquest for annual id. Measures taken to address deviation are	
This is to in (SERU) was The study ha	form you that the Expedited Review Team of of the informed opinion that the progress m is therefore been granted <b>approval</b> .	f the KEMRI Scientific and Ethics Review Unit ade during the reported period is satisfactory	
This approv authorization with data co the <b>SERU</b> b	al is valid from March 15, 2019 throug to conduct this study will automatically expin- illection or analysis beyond this date pease s y January 31, 2020.	h to March 14, 2020. Please note that e on March 14, 2020. If you plan to continu- ubmit an application for continuing approval to	
You are req participation	uired to submit any amendments to this prol in this study to the SERU for review prior to i	ocol and other information pertinent to huma nitiation.	
Yours faithf	ully,	Sandaphit Medicine	
ENOCK KE ACTING H KEMRI SC	BENEI EAD IENTIFI <u>C AND ETHICS REVIEW UNIT</u>	The of the state o	

## **Appendix IV: Funding Statement**

'This work was supported through the DELTAS Africa Initiative [DEL-15-003]. The DELTAS Africa Initiative is an independent funding scheme of the African Academy of Sciences (AAS)'s Alliance for Accelerating Excellence in Science in Africa (AESA) and supported by the New Partnership for Africa's Development Planning and Coordinating Agency (NEPAD Agency) with funding from the Wellcome Trust [107769/Z/10/Z] and the UK government. The views expressed in this thesis are those of the author and not necessarily those of AAS, NEPAD Agency, Wellcome Trust or the UK government'.